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Chairman’s Report

Mr. Andrew Calleja I.A.P.

Chairman

It is with satisfaction that I present my second report on

the activities of the Malta Environment & Planning

Authority covering the period 1st October 2002 to 30th

September 2003. The past year has been a memorable

one for the Authority culminating in its tenth anniversary

last December. The current land-use planning system was

introduced a decade ago when Parliament approved the

Structure Plan for the Maltese Islands and set up the

Planning Authority. Now we are looking forward to the

revision of this landmark regulation.

Ten years ago, the setting-up of a new organization put

in motion a more rational and accountable way of 

planning land-use in Malta. The principles of transparency,

consultation and participation were key factors in ensuring

a planning system that sought the widest possible public

involvement in land-use policy formulation and decision-

making. Throughout these years, the Authority has 

striven to maintain these principles, even if with varying

degrees of success. Indeed, at this point, I would like to

pay tribute to my predecessors and also to all those who

contributed to the building of this institution. In March

last year, MEPA, was created through a merger of the

Planning Authority and the Environment Protection

Department. Land-use and environment regulation were

brought together under one umbrella organization to

achieve an integrated approach to these two 

interdependent fields. The past year has been one of

consolidation and preparation to meet the high 

environmental standards arising from transposition of

the EU acquis and the ever increasing public expectations

with regards to both the environment and land-use 

regulation. The restructuring exercise undertaken during

the previous financial year has been practically completed

and we are in a capacity building process which is 

necessary to successfully carry out our responsibilities in

the two sectors. 

The challenge that lies ahead involves a cultural change

not dissimilar to that brought about when the land-use 

planning regime was introduced locally in 1992. We have

to re-examine our practices in the industrial, commercial

and leisure sectors to ensure compliance with the 

environmental standards that our country ought to have.

This entails the setting up of a new regulatory and 

licensing system for the environment sector, supported

by an enforcement network that meets the established

deadlines. During the year under review we have 

consulted with the commercial sector in order to raise

awareness of the environmental standards we are out to

achieve and to spell out the implications of the changes.

To this end we will be stepping up our efforts to ensure

understanding, appreciation and co-operation in the 

successful implementation of the new environmental

standards that Malta rightfully deserves.

We have issued for public consultation a wide array of

environmental regulations which, need to be implemented 
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sensitively and responsibly. These will radically improve

the way we live and operate. Our experience in the land-

use sector places us in a better position to bring about

the required changes smoothly and in collaboration with

all other key players in the environment field.

In the area of land-use planning, we have focused on the

quality of our decision-taking and on stream-lining the 

development application process.The restructuring of the

Development Control Section with the purpose of providing

increased efficiency and the setting up of additional

Development Control Commissions are all giving the

desired results. However, we shall not stop there. 

To service better our customers we are setting up a call

centre and redesigning our planning shop to give a 

personalized service to all our clients. We overhauled the

whole reconsideration process and a specific team was

set up to process such requests. In this way the submissions

will no longer be processed by the same case officer who

drew up the original development application report.

This will enable the Development Control section to be

more effective in dealing promptly with such requests.

The integration of our enforcement section with the

planning process continued during the year under

review. Public expectations of our enforcement capacity

is continually increasing.  Our strategic direct action operations

on illegal buildings are producing good results.

The review of the Structure Plan continued in earnest

and we have completed the first phase. We are targeting

October 2004 as the date when the new Structure Plan

will be finalized. Work on the seven local plans has also

progressed: two are in force, four are being finalized 

following a public consultation process and the last local

plan, that for Malta South, shall be published for public

consultation early in the new financial year.

Concurrently we have been working on a number of

environmental initiatives in partnership with local councils

and non-government organizations. As in the case of the

Ecoschools program, MEPA is acting as a catalyst for 

environmental improvement. The setting up of the

Environment Fund this summer was a natural consequence

to the various environmental initiatives we have undertaken

and financed through the community gains we regularly

request from major development projects. 

With the targets we have set for the coming year, namely

a new Structure Plan, seven local plans and a new 

regulatory regime for the environment sector, the Malta

Environment & Planning Authority shall be poised to

meet the ever increasing challenges in the environment

and land-use sectors. 

We shall continue to act diligently to provide the necessary

regulatory framework that would bring about those 

quality changes that our country rightfully warrants.

Potamon fluviatile lanfrancoi
The endemic race (subspecies) of the Mediterranean Freshwater Crab, occurs as isolated populations 

in a handful of localities with a perennial source of freshwater.

Head of Chalcides ocellatus
The Ocellated Skink is our largest lizard,

which can reach a length of 30cm including

the tail.

© P. J. Schembri © P. J. Schembri © P. J. Schembri
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Report by the Director General

Sustainable development is a key challenge of the 21st

century; and it involves economic, social and environmental

dimensions. The Development Planning Act and the

Environment Protection Act implicitly place the responsibility

on the Malta Environment & Planning Authority to provide

leadership within Government for the sustainable 

development agenda and to be the champion for good

governance in environmental protection. The nomination

of MEPA as the competent Authority for environmental

matters involved a transformation in mandate and shape

of the Authority. This change process is still ongoing and

will take some more time to be completed. New structures

are being put in place, and an intensive program is

underway to improve the administrative capacity of the

Authority in the environment sector through a twinning

agreement with the UK Environment Agency and the

Austrian Environment Agency. Although in its policy

making functions the Authority had already embraced

principles of environmental protection, the new mandate

has placed on the Authority a much more onerous

responsibility to deal with a whole range of environmental

issues.

Environmental issues and Planning

Any discussion of environmental issues is rendered 

complex by the extensive nature of environmental 

concerns. These may range from the ecological management

of natural resources and the conservation of habitat,

flora and fauna through the protection and enhancement

of man-made environments and the control of pollution

to sanitation and waste disposal. The management of these

matters, therefore, extends across many areas of Government

in a similar way to the spread of the planning system,

with which it has much in common. Sustainable 

development is all about a better quality of life now and

for future generations. To secure this improvement

demands a structured approach to implementation of

new environmental standards and a recognition of inter-

dependencies between different strands of decision

making concerning economic growth, social progress,

prudent use of natural resources and environmental 

capital, and protection of the environment. Sustainable

development cannot and should not be just another

buzzword. This must be at the heart of the Authority’s

mandate and mission. MEPA has responsibility for the

development and implementation of robust policies in 

support of the environment; as well as promoting 

integration of environmental considerations in economic,

social and other sectoral policies. There are some difficult

choices to be made ahead and we need to guide public

opinion, basing our approach on irrefutable scientific

data. The adoption of a national strategy to achieve 

sustainable development is badly needed and MEPA

should play a key role to achieve this.

Dr. Godwin Cassar B. Arch (Hons), Dip BEI (R’Dam), A&C.E., FRTPI, FCMI, FI Mgt, D.Univ (B’Ham)

Director General
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Malta Environment & Planning Authority Board

Malta Environment & Planning Authority Board

Chairman: Mr. Andrew Calleja I.A.P.

Deputy Chairman: Mr. Victor Torpiano B.A. (Arch), B.Arch, A&C.E.

Board Secretary: Mr. Francis Tabone

Independent Members: Mr. Ronald Azzopardi
Mr. Louis F Cassar C Biol MI Biol,p-gDip Env. Mgt, MSc (Env. Plan. & Mgt)

Mr. Peter Zammit BE & A (Hons) A&CE

Mr. Alfred Mangion B. Pharm

Mr. Salvator Mousu’
Dr. Sandra Sladden LL.D

Public Officers: Dr. Godwin Debono B.Sc., M.Sc., D.LL.C., Ph.D.

Mr. Saviour Gauci
Mr. Anthony Mifsud HND (Agric.)

Dr. Lucianne Licari M.D., M.Sc., (Env. Plan. & Mgt), PgDip (Env. Mgt)

(Served as board member until 11/08/03)

Mr. Leonard Callus (Appointed on 14/03/03)

Mr. Moses Azzopardi A.C.IS Dip (M) (Served as board member until 31/01/03)

Members of the House
of Representatives Hon. Helen D’Amato M.P. (Appointed on 18/06/03)

Hon. Joe Brincat M.P. (Appointed on 18/06/03)

Hon. Carmelo Mifsud Bonnici LL.D. M.P. (Served as board member until 07/03/03)

Hon. Joe Mizzi M.P. (Served as board member until 07/03/03)
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A Decennary

The Malta Environment & Planning Authority celebrated

10 years of land-use planning in Malta. At the time it was

set up, the social partners had come to realize that 

without an effective spatial and environmental planning

system, Malta’s assets, including its culture and heritage,

could seriously be compromised thus jeopardising the

country’s tourism industry. The change instituted was a

fundamental one, with planning being recognized as an

important activity. The subsequent assignment of the

environment responsibilities to MEPA meant that the

effect on  lifestyles for the present and future generations

was to be greater.

Several formidable challenges were faced by the nascent

Planning Authority. One of the major problems in Malta,

in terms of planning, was, and still is, the high population

density in such a restricted land mass. The challenge for

the Authority has always been to mediate between 

competing demands made on the limited land resources,

the need for new employment opportunities and 

economic growth, while at the same time protecting the

environment. Other major issues include those of land

use and transportation, and the increasing congestion

and atmospheric pollution. It is MEPA’s vision to create

opportunities for economic development and profitable

investment without harming environmental quality. 

Among the main environmental concerns which first the

Planning Authority and now its successor MEPA encounters,

are the pressure for new development in the countryside

and upon ecologically sensitive sites, pressure from

tourism and related developments and the impact of

quarrying and waste disposal. With regards to the 

concerns on the built environment, the main ones

remain the pressures exerted by the ever increasing 

number of cars on the road infrastructure and the 

resultant parking problem, the urban regeneration of

deteriorating village cores and how to get the necessary

investment to protect and rehabilitate existing historic

buildings.

THREE PLANNING PROJECTS AWARDED BY MEPA

Three projects have received Planning Awards from the

Malta Environment & Planning Authority: A restoration

project at the church of Santa Caterina d’Italia, Valletta,

Bay Street St George’s Complex and the Serenity Wards

at St Vincent de Paule Residence. The awards were 

presented by the Hon. George Pullicino, then

Parliamentary Secretary for the Environment, at the 

inauguration of a digital exhibition titled ‘MY HISTORY…

MY FUTURE - 10 years of life and land’.

MY HISTORY...  ...MY FUTURE 
10 years of life and land.

A digital exhibition entitled ‘My History my future… 10 years of life and land’ 
was held at the foyer of the Malta Environment & Planning Authority.
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Aerial view of Comino, which has been designated 
a special area of conservation for the Maltese Islands.
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During the past year the corporate function focused on

the organisation development required by the Authority’s

growth and transition inherent in the statutory 

obligations set out in the Development Planning Act and

the Environment Protection Act.

Achieving this transition and the associated growing

pains, put significant pressure on the corporate service

functions of the Authority.  A recruitment drive, focused

on building capacity in environment protection skills,

required a concerted effort to ensure that recruitment 

proceeded with due diligence as well as the practical

issues of ensuring that new staff joining the Authority

have the office resources and IT infrastructure they need.  

Growth in environment protection responsibilities is

being facilitated by an EU funded institutional capacity

building project with the UK and Austrian Environment

Agencies. This provides for a broad range of training

services focusing on the issues directly related to the

implementation of the Environment Acquis. The

Authority has also received confirmation of a further 

pre-accession aid in projects related to the development

of environment protection structures. These organisational

changes, including the absorption of several civil service

employees from the defunct Environment Protection

Department, together with the negotiation of new 

collective agreements provided ongoing difficulties in

industrial relations. This was particularly significant in the

first part of the year during which industrial actions over

new collective agreement conditions spanned several

weeks.

During the period, the Authority made the initial steps to

provide for the growing office space requirements, 

acquiring additional premises in and around St. Francis

Ravelin.  Apart from interim measures to refurbish office

space in St. Francis Ravelin, the Authority is evaluating

proposals to consolidate premises for the Authority’s

activities within St. Francis Ravelin. Within the context of

these growing responsibilities the Authority needs to

develop new sources of revenue to sustain its activities.

The year under review will close with significant financial

losses that the Authority will need to address if it is to

provide the Planning and Environment Protection services

the public deserves.

There is no doubt that this year has presented a number

of hurdles that are unlikely to recur. Many of these 

hurdles have been overcome whilst others are still very

evident in the day-to-day operations of the Authority.

The future will undoubtedly be different and we are

looking forward to developing the organisation to 

provide competence and capacity necessary to address

the challenges the Authority will face. 

Report for the Corporate Services Directorate

IT sessions for new staff
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Report for the Environment Protection Directorate

MEPA is the lead agency entrusted to coordinate the

implementation of directives set out by the EU commission

and to achieve the agreed targets for environmental

improvements. The Authority is still currently building up

resources and expertise in a wide range of environmental

protection. This process of necessity takes time to assimilate

new information and practices. 

Over the past year, the Directorate has been busy with a

wide range of complex issues and over two hundred

pieces of legislation covering amongst others air quality,

Genetically Modified Organisms, chemicals, persistent

organic pollutants, climate change, pollution from 

industrial installations, nature protection, waste management

plans, end of life vehicles, shipment of waste and water

management. The Directorate was also heavily committed

to participation in EU related activities. MEPA staff

attended EU-Commission meetings and working groups,

and at EU Commission EPRG meetings on EU Policies.

We participated sucessfully in two Monitoring Missions. 

Another major area was the formulation of legal notices

for MEPA Board approval. These included Legal Notices

on Packaging and Packaging Waste and End of Life

Vehicles for which public participation was organized.

The directorate was also responsible for the transposition

of the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive. The

adoption of new legislative instruments alone, however,

will not achieve the desired environmental improvements

on the ground. Many stakeholders are involved in the

process and these need to be educated about their new

responsibilities. 

The Directorate was also busy monitoring aspects of the

environment. Air monitoring stations and a diffuser 

sampler tube program were set up. The air monitoring

stations were also used with significant effect on Car

Free Day with results clearly indicating the changed 

levels of pollution. During the year, MEPA also carried out

a lead-in-air monitoring program and a  bathing water

and coastal water monitoring program. At the moment

the Directorate is planning to set up an Air Quality

Institute in collaboration with the Dept of Physics

University of Malta.

The economic and social demands which the country has

to balance have their impact on the environment and at 

present we are providing courses for Environment Impact

Assessment Co-ordinators and Assessors. MEPA has also 

formulated Guidelines for the Register of EIA Assessors.

Fungus Rock - Gozo
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Report for the Planning Directorate

This year marks the first year in office of Perit Stephen

Farrugia as Director of Planning. It has been a very 

challenging year during which a number of milestones

were registered both in Development Services and

Forward Planning Units.

In Development Services, the main thrust was to contain

the number of pending applications to the levels

achieved during the previous year where the lowest ever

pending caseload was registered. This necessitated the

daily monitoring of the inputs and outputs of the system.

One very important aspect of this directorate is the 

quality of reports made by our case officers.  During this

year a structured, on-going dialogue was initiated with

all Development Control Commissions in order to tackle

this issue. It is expected that the presence of Directorate

officials in the Development Control Commissions will

help in this respect and minimise the number of applications

which are referred back to the Directorate.

This year was marked by a concerted effort to re-organize

the Enforcement Section within the Planning Directorate

in an effort to increase efficiency and reduce the number

of pending enforcement notices. The Direct Action/Major

Projects Team was amalgamated with the Development

Services Major Projects team to better coordinate both

the monitoring and assessment of major projects.

The most significant achievement in the Forward

Planning Unit this year relates to the completion of the

public consultation in respect of both the Central Malta

Local  Plan and the Gozo and Comino Local Plan. Work

on the North Harbours Local Plan has been completed

and the Authority will shortly present the document 

officially to Government. 

Other major initiatives taken by the Forward Planning

Unit were a report on the Small and Medium Enterprises

(SME’s) site selection, Retail Planning Guidelines  and a

paper on Shooting Ranges. The first two reports were

subject to extensive public consultation and the latter has

been circulated to key external consultees.. 

This year’s performance was marked by the two units

positioning themselves more proactively to the work

challenges. With the back-up assistance of the

Operations Office and the IT section the two units were

in a better position to guide the development control

and forward planning aspect of the Authority and this

augurs well for the next year.
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Development Control

Over the last year the Authority received 7201 applications and has validated a total of 7093. The Development Control

Commissions have decided 6597 applications and the active valid pending caseload at end September 2003 was 2639.

The Authority also received 1050 DNO (Development Notification) Applications and have processed a total of 1067

DNO’s.

Table 2: Applications processed over the past 10 years since the setting up of the Planning Authority. 

Month Active Valid 
Pending Caseload

October 2002 2565  

November 2002 2632  

December 2002 2658  

January 2003 2651  

February 2003 3073  

March 2003 2948  

April 2003 3080  

May 2003 3099  

June 2003 2984  

July 2003 3124  

August 2003 3038  

September 2003 2639  

Table 1. Pending caseload over the past year.
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Enforcement

During the last year the enforcement unit closed a total

of 919 cases. Five hundred and eighty-seven cases were

sanctioned by a development permit, 262 illegal 

structures were removed by their owners, 48 notices

were withdrawn and another 22 cases were complied

with after final notification letter from direct action team.

In October a clean-up operation was carried out at Ta’

Gerzuma in Bahrija where large amounts of building 

rubble were illegally dumped on this ecologically 

sensitive site. As part of Clean up the World, MEPA also

cleared up a number of dumping sites in the limits of

Zejtun.

In June, the Malta Environment & Planning Authority 

carried out five direct action operations. A four-course

garage wall in Mosta and two air conditioner units from

a retail outlet in Hamrun were removed. A number of

rooms and a garage constructed without a permit in

Siggiewi were also demolished. In two other separate

operations MEPA sealed off the upper floors of a hotel in

Bugibba and two penthouses in St Julian’s.

In August, the enforcement unit closed 150 enforcement

cases. This is an all time record since the highest figure

ever reached was 75. During the same month 92

enforcement cases were sanctioned by a MEPA permit,

54 illegal structures were removed by their owners and 4

notices were withdrawn. During August, MEPA carried

out 1 direct action operation which consisted of sealing

of a panel beater garage in Gozo. 

In September, the Malta Environment and Planning

Authority carried out 2 direct action operations. These

consisted of the sealing of hotel rooms in Bugibba as well

as an illegal cold room in commercial premises in

Mellieha.

Table 3: Enforcement notice by month in the regions for the period Oct 2002 - Sept 2003.

Enforcement - North 2003

Enforcement - Central 2003

Enforcement - South 2003

Enforcement - Gozo 2003
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TOPIC PAPERS

During the year, the Board approved three topic papers related to Social facilities and Community Care, Rural Strategy

and, finally, to the Utilities.  It should be emphasised, however, that the principal thrust of the Unit during the year was

to speed up the work on various Local Plans and related studies, and to focus on strategic studies related to the EU. 

PHASE TWO

The second phase of the Structure Plan Review encompasses the preparation of three working documents: an issues

paper, a Strategic Options Paper and a Technical Report. 

South Malta Local Plan: Work progressed on the

South Malta Local Plan with the formulation of draft

General and Area Policies.  Consultation exercises, both

internal and external were carried out and results 

included in the plan. 

North Harbours Local Plan: The Plan is awaiting 

clarifications from major stakeholders on some 

contentious issues prior to its presentation to the MEPA

Board.

North West Local Plan: The public consultation issues

report has been finalised and re-drafting of the policies in

view of public comments and comments from external

agencies is being carried out. 

Central Malta Local Plan: Public consultation on the

Central Malta Local Plan was carried out up till the 11th

of October 2002. Following this consultation phase all

submissions and scheme amendment requests made by

the general public were analysed. All contentious issues

arising from the public comments were listed in an issues

report (June 2003). Currently the draft Local Plan is being

revised in the light of the public comments received and

as a result of further research work. Once the document

is fully revised, an amended Plan will be presented to the

MEPA Board for final approval in early 2004. 

Gozo & Comino Local Plan: Following the launch of

the Draft for Gozo and Comino Local Plan, almost 800 

submissions were received. A proportion of these 

indicated more than one issue. These were summarized

and categorized. Additionally, an issues report, based on

the submissions received through the public participation 

exercise, was compiled.

LOCAL PLANS
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Development Briefs & Planning Guidelines

KALKARA RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT

Detailed guidelines were published for public consultation

on the development of the area in Kalkara enclosed by

existing residential development and earmarked for new

residential development in the approved Grand Harbour

Local Plan. The general principles proposed for the devel-

opment of the new residential neighbourhood are based

on maintaining tradition and character, alignment to

urban conservation areas and visual coherence in 

elevation.

A DEVELPOMENT BRIEF FOR PENDER PLACE AND

MERCURY HOUSE

A brief was prepared for the re-development of over

three hectares of land in Paceville into a residential and 

commercial area. The development proposed a 

landscaped pedestrian area, an underground 1,500 

vehicle public car park, a new bus terminus and junction

improvements. The development area included two sites,

Pender Place and Mercury House. It was proposed

to be linked by a subway. The location of Maltacom 

infrastructure onsite hindered further progress on the

brief in view of the sensitivity of the communications

infrastructure and the need to relocate it, if the development

opportunity in the area is to be maximized.

INNER HARBOURS OPPORTUNITY AREA BRIEF

The Marsaxlokk Bay Local Plan stipulated the need for

the preparation of a development brief in Marsaxlokk`s

Harbour area. The brief embraces proposals for 

commercial, housing and recreational facilities, whilst

safeguarding agricultural land and the ‘il-Maghluq’ salt

marsh. In preparing the brief, it was realised that there

were conflicting statements in the local plan which 

needed to be resolved before further progress could be

made. 

SME’S SITE SELECTION EXERCISE

The public consultation exercise resulted in the endorsement

by the land owners of eight sites identified in the 

original report and 75 new sites being submitted for 

consideration for designation as micro-enterprise parks.

These sites have been assessed on the basis of the Site

Selection Criteria published in the original report and

extensive internal and external consultations.

‘Il-Maghluq’ - Marsaxlokk
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SHOOTING RANGES POLICY PAPER

A draft policy paper on shooting ranges has been 

completed, and has been circulated to key external 

consultees. The paper embraces competitive shotgun

and target shooting,  assesses problems posed by the

current level of provision and distribution, examines the

current policy framework and its adequacy to satisfy  the

level of potential future demand  and whether new 

policies are warranted to meet such future demand. 

TA’ MASRIJA DRAFT PLANNING POLICY

As part of the review of the North West Local Plan 

following public consultation, a planning policy for a site

in Mellieha was published for public consultation 

separately in June 2003 as it involved a major departure

from the proposals in the draft Plan. Following the 

closure of the public consultation period in August, the

policy is being reviewed in the light of comments

received.

COMINO MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

This committee was appointed in 2002 and chaired by

board member Mr. Louis Cassar. It started work through

the collection of relevant baseline information for the 

formulation of a management plan. The findings were

presented to the MEPA board in June 2003.

QAWRA / DWEJRA MANAGEMENT PLAN

In May the MEPA Board approved guidlines for the 

drawing up of the Qawra / Dwejra Management Plan.

The need for such a plan had been identified in the

Structure Plan for the Maltese Islands and reinforced 

further in the draft Gozo and Comino Local Plan. A 

management committee was appointed, chaired by

board member Dr. Godwin Debono to take this work 

forward. Concurrently the Authority assisted Nature Trust

in the submission of a proposal for LIFE funding. Together

with Nature Trust, this initiative in environmental 

partnership was formed to achieve  the setup and 

maintenance of a nature reserve. With this in mind,

MEPA offered its expertise and considerable financial

backing so that the end result will be an environment

which encourages all to safeguard the natural beauty of

the area.  

The project shall be divided into three phases: inventorying

the site for various aspects of biodiversity; conservation

and the implementation of a management plan; the 

setting up of a natural reserve. This project was accepted

under the LIFE programme of the European Union and

will eventually cost EUR 310,000. MEPA is contributing

EUR 76,000 for the project. 

Dwejra - Gozo
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Waste Management

MEPA INVESTIGATES HAZARDOUS WASTE 

ABOARD NORWEGIAN SHIP

No hazardous waste was found aboard the Norwegian

ship Kronviken during a thorough investigation by Malta

Environment & Planning Authority (MEPA) environment

inspectors last December. The ship was found to contain

only ashes resulting from the incineration of domestic

waste on board the vessel. The two-hour inspection was

carried out soon after the ship docked at the Tank

Cleaning Farm in Ricasoli. The inspection was co-ordinated

by MEPA’s Environment Protection Directorate together

with the Civil Protection Department and the

Administrative Law Enforcement Police. Later on, during

the year, MEPA officials inspected a site in Corradino,

property of the Malta Drydocks, where Korinviken waste

is currently being stored. MEPA inspectors ensured that

suitable containment and storage of this waste was

achieved pending a satisfactory disposal solution.

Although the waste was originally intended to have a

designated storage location at Maghtab this could not

be realized before the necessary work on that site was

completed. In the meantime MEPA is carrying out 

discussions with MDD for the setting up of adequately

prepared sites within MDD premises for the storage of

this waste. These sites would provide more security and

supervision, factors which are as yet not adequately in

place at Maghtab. 

NEW PROCEDURES ON THE DISPOSAL OF 

HAZARDOUS WASTE

New procedures on the management and disposal of oil

sludge and other hazardous waste generated by the ship

repair industries are being introduced following talks

between the MEPA, Malta Drydocks, WasteServ Ltd and

the Waste Management Services Implementation Dept,

which operate the Maghtab landfill. All oil sludge 

off-loaded from ships is now to be stored in rigid 

containers, properly marked and transported to a 

designated site at Maghtab. The storage site, being 

provided by Waste Management Services Ltd, will be laid

with an impermeable layer to prevent leaching and will

have ground contamination monitoring facilities.

PERMIT REQUIRED FOR THE PRODUCTION AND 

MANAGEMENT OF WASTE

As of this year all  persons that manage waste, and in

some cases those that produce waste, had to apply for a 

permit from the Malta Environment & Planning Authority

by 1st April 2003. This requirement ensues from Legal

Notice 337 of 2001 Waste Management (Permit and

Control) Regulations, which regulates the production

and management of all types of waste. The production

of waste in a number of sectors requires a permit. These

include, among others, the energy industry, the production

and processing of metals, minerals, chemicals, slaughter-

houses, food production, the ship repair and ship-building

industries, airports, sea ports, local councils, hospitals,

sewage treatment plants and activities that generate

radioactive waste. The full list of activities that require a

Waste Production Permit may be found in Schedule 7 of

the legal notice.

MEPA INSPECTS 150 TRUCKS A DAY

MEPA officials have been inspecting an average of 150

trucks of inert waste which have daily dumped their

loads in a disused quarry in Siggiewi. This activity started

being carried out after inert waste dumping at Maghtab

was discontinued. The inspections were carried out to

ensure that only inert waste is unloaded and no other

waste that may cause harm to the environment. The

inspectors weeded out all polluting materials prior to

dumping, occasionally even sending back truckloads

which had not been properly sorted out at source.
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Managing Resources

The economic and social demands which the country has

to balance have their impact on the environment. The

Resources Management Unit within the Environment

Protection Directorate acted as the interface between the

rest of this Directorate and the Planning Directorate. The

aim of this activity was targeted towards taking informed

decisions as far as developments were concerned. As

part of this activity, various proposed developments were

subjected to environmental impact assessments. Of 

special significance in this respect were the waste 

management-related projects and projects for the 

hospitality industry. Besides highlighting environmental

implications, these impact assessments also identified

mitigation measures. Information pertaining to EIAs was

regularly published on the MEPA website. In addition,

public hearings on major projects were held.

The present EIA Regulations were revised to bring them

in line with recent developments, and guidelines 

formulated for the registration of EIA consultants. The

Unit also organised courses for EIA practitioners.

The RMU monitored permitted developments, including

the Cirkewwa Terminal project, the Hilton Project and 

fish-farming operations. Following an agreement

reached with fish farm operators, co-ordination started

on all the environmental monitoring programs related to

aquaculture activities.  The monitoring was carried out by

independent consultants commissioned by MEPA at the

expense of the operators. These programs involved the

regular collection of samples of sea water, sediment and

flora and fauna from the sea bed from within the cage

site and from control sites further away from the cages.

Scientific evaluation of the monitoring results enabled

MEPA to detect changes in these parameters, and 

determine whether such changes are natural phenomena

or resulting from the farms. 

As part of the Twinning Project, work was initiated on

the drafting of legislation transposing the Strategic

Environmental Assessment Directive. A workshop for

public officers on the subject was also held.   

The Unit made recommendations on the scheduling of

properties and sites with significant natural or cultural

value. Conservation orders were also drafted. The Unit

also provided input to the review of the Structure Plan,

the preparation of local plans, rural strategy topic paper,

transport plans, the publication of information on benthic

habitats and the SME site selection exercise. The Unit

also prepared project proposals for eventual submission

for EU funding.

Dingli Cliffs
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Nature Protection

INTERNATIONAL CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS

One of the major assignments of the Nature Protection Unit

has been the administration, implementation and 

enforcement of International Conventions and agreements.

This involved the Nature Protection Unit in several initiatives.

Biodiversity Action Plan

This involved among other things the setting up of a

draft Biodiversity Monitoring Program and National

Action Plan for the conservation of Sharks and Skates. The

unit analysed the report concerning checklist of 

threatened and endemic insects of the Maltese Islands

and the survey on the results of  Posidonia. In the year

under review, the preparation and issue of tenders in

connection with the EU acquis and obligations arising

from the ratification of various international treaties was

handled by the unit.

Habitat Inventorying Project

One of the highlights of the year was the delineation of

boundaries of Sites of National Importance in connection

with the Emerald Network and Natura 2000 Project. A

national ecological network of special areas of conservation

was set up with the issue of new regulations called the 

Flora, Fauna and Natural Habitats Protection Regulations

of 2003. These regulations provide protection to a number

of species and sites of ecological importance, and also

include relevant provisions of the EU Habitats Directive.

Through these regulations, these areas are being referred

to as special areas of conservation. MEPA has issued a

notice setting up this network which includes 7 sites of

national importance and 31 sites which are being

declared provisionally as Candidate sites of international

importance. Such sites include the sand dunes of Ramla

l-Hamra in Gozo, the old holm oak forest remnants in the

limits of San Pawl il-Bahar, the cliffs of Malta, including

the Dingli Cliffs, the Dwejra area in Gozo, Kemmuna and

most of the Maltese minor islands.

Other activities of the unit included the analysis and 

classification of the Gozo Local Plan habitat maps in

terms of international biotope standards and the regular

follow-up of classification schemes adopted by the EEA

and the European Union.

LEGISLATION

Seventeen pieces of legislation were processed by the

unit. Apart from the Flora, Fauna and Natural Habitats

Protection Regulations, the unit worked on the agreement

on the Conservation of Bats in Europe Incorporation

Regulations and on the protection of biodiversity on Filfla.

Head of Pipistrellus kuhli
Kuhl’s Pipistrelle is one of two species of

pipistrelle bats that occur in the Maltese

Islands.

Podarcis filfolensis filfolensis
This race (subspecies) of the Maltese Wall

Lizard is endemic to the islet of Filfla. Other

small islets have their own endemic races.

Caterpillar of Hyles sammuti
Caterpillar of Sammut’s Spurge Hawkmoth is

a distinct endemic species to the Maltese

Islands.

© P. J. Schembri © P. J. Schembri © P. J. Schembri
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APPLICATIONS, PERMITS AND LICENCES

The Nature Protection Unit processed applications 

concerning access to Filfla and Fungus Rock as Strict

Nature Reserves, the handling of Maltese Wall Lizards &

Marine Turtles and Cetaceans, Maltese Killifish, Injured

Birds, Offroading and Protected trees and Nature Reserves.

EU ACQUIS

The remit of this Unit also involved the management and

adoption of EU nature protection legislation with regards

to EU Nature Protection Acquis. This was achieved inter

alia through the analysis of relevant EU Council

Documents, attendance of meetings concerning the EU

Monitoring Mission and remarks on the proposed EU

Regulations and Accession Negotiations with Malta. A

focal activity of the unit was the progress report for the

European Commission concerning the preparation and

implementation of Natura 2000, and the eventual publication

of local legislation related to the protection of biodiversity.

GMO’S AND BIOSAFETY

EU Directives’ obligations will be fulfilled through a 

Bio-Safety Co-ordinating Committee launched as the 

channel through which an integrated approach to 

bio-safety can be administered. Another main assignment

of the Nature Protection Unit with regards to Genetically

Modified Organisms (GMOs) and Biosafety was undertaken

through meetings, workshops and consultations on the

compilation for discussion of a Draft Budget for a

UNEP/GEF project, aimed at securing financial and technical

assistance for the development of a national Bio-Safety

framework intended to meet Cartagena Protocol 

international obligations regarding control on the deliberate

release and introduction on the market of genetically

modified organisms.  

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION INSPECTORATE

Proceedings of the environment protection inspectorate

attached with the Nature Protection Unit for the period

under review, included the processing of import and

export licences for wild species of flora and fauna, and

issuance of conditions for the importation and exportation

of requested specimens; endorsement of Customs

Documents.  Inspections related to enforcement of

nature protection regulations were carried out and

seizures of specimens of wild species of flora and fauna

imported not in accordance with national and 

international regulations were executed. CITES export

permits and re-export certificates were issued. 

Head of Elaphe situla
The Leopard Snake is one of four species of

snake that occur in the Maltese Islands, and

feeds on small mammals such as young mice.

Aerulillus schembrii
Schembri’s Jumping Spider (family Salticidae)

only occurs in Sicily and the Maltese Islands.

Glomeris distichella
The Pill Millipede is unusual because it is able

to roll up into a ball in the manner of some

woodlice. It is a Siculo-Maltese endemism.

© P. J. Schembri
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Environmental Management and Education

SIX PILOT  PROGRAMS FOR ECO-SCHOOLS

Six local schools participated in a pilot initiative aimed

at empowering pupils, teachers and parents to take prac-

tical steps to reduce the environmental impact of their

schools. This initiative enabled Maltese schools to join

some 7,000 other schools in 26 countries in a program

known as Eco-Schools. Government primary schools in

St Julian’s, Xaghra, Fgura, and Siggiewi, St. Joseph’s

Primary School, Blata l-Bajda and St Edwards College

took part during this scholastic year. 

MEPA TEAMS UP WITH KSU FOR 

ENVIRONMENT FAIR

MEPA was the main sponsor of this year’s edition of the

Environment Fair organized by the Kunsill Studenti

Universitarji (KSU) on Campus. Targeted at the 12,000-

strong student and academic population of the

University, the fair promoted the protection of the 

environment and sustainable development. At its stand,

MEPA encouraged students to actively protect Malta’s

environment and planning for the country’s future.

Students were invited to actively contribute to the public

consultation exercises organized by MEPA on various

land-use policies, environmental impact assessments,

strategic and local plans.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT & EDUCATION

Eco-Business breakfasts for the local manufacturing

industry were organized in collaboration with the Malta

Federation of Industry and the Cleaner Technology

Centre. These meetings were aimed at raising awareness

of the environmental responsibility of the manufacturing

industry and to provide information on the requirements

of local legislation, particularly those stemming from the

EU acquis. Around 150 local companies were targeted

through this exercise.

MALTA - TUNISIA TALKS ON CO-OPERATION 

IN THE ENVIRONMENT

Malta and Tunisia started discussing the possible

exchange of environment information related to the air

quality in the two countries. A Tunisian delegation visited

the Malta Environment & Planning Authority (MEPA) to

discuss possible co-operation agreements in the 

environment field. The two sides agreed to explore ways

to exchange information on trans-boundary air quality

data as well as co-operation on the methodology and

equipment used for air quality monitoring.
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Pollution Control, Wastes & Minerals

This is the regulatory arm of MEPA for the control of 

pollution in all environmental media and for waste 

management and minerals extraction. It thus constitutes

the largest bulk of the regulatory functions required in

the Environmental aquis. During 2003 the unit 

comprised about 20 staff some in professional grades

such as environment officers together with a number of

environment inspectors and support staff.

Over the past year the Unit has been in providing an

input to the EU accession process, in reacting to and

commenting on the new legal documents being 

formulated by the EU institutions, and in putting into

place the required legal, administrative systems and

structures which will implement to the required standard,

the new legal regime of the EU. Considerable help and

practical assistance in achieving these tasks have been

provided through the Twinning agreement negotiated

between the Government and the UK Environment Agency.

AREAS OF SPECIAL FOCUS

Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control (IPPC): This

legislation (LN234/2002) involved the definitive 

establishment of a list of IPPC installations, inspecting

each installation and providing guidance in the legislation,

drafting the IPPC application forms, and organizing

awareness workshops. The IPPC committee has been

identified and has met several times.

Ozone Depletion Substance (ODS): According to 

established practice, the ODS Committee established the

quotas for the individual importers based on Malta’s 

current quota of 64.3 tonnes/year ODP equivalent. Two

local separate awareness raising workshops; one targeted

towards industrial importers and the other targeted

towards methyl bromide importers were held in conjunction

with the Cleaner Technology Center to advise stakeholders

of the new EU requirements applicable after next May 2004.

Persistent Organic Pollutants: In preparation for the

implementation of the Stockholm Convention as an

accession country, MEPA applied (with the assistance of

Enemalta) to participate in a EU funded project for Dioxin

Emission Monitoring.

Legislation: The completion of the transposition of the

aquis included the publishing of draft Waste

Management (End-of-Life Vehicles) Regulations, 2003

and the draft Waste Management (Packaging and

Packaging Waste) Regulations, 2003.  Public consultation

meetings on the above government notices were held in

September 2003.

Solid Waste Management Strategy: The unit played a

leading role in the implementation of the Strategy and

was responsible for the regulatory aspects related to

waste management including the granting of operational

permits and their permitting conditions. It collaborates

with WasteServ Malta Ltd. (which is responsible for the

operational and infrastructural aspects related to waste

management), and advised this company, other

Authorities and other sections of MEPA, on the process

of establishing new facilities for a number of waste 

categories within the framework of the strategy.

Hazardous Waste Consignment Note System: Following

the successful introduction of the Hazardous Waste

Consignment Note System in 2000, the procedure has

been extended to include more industries and establishments

that generate hazardous wastes. Numerous consignment

notes were processed, which helped in tracking waste

such as clinical waste from the point of generation to

final disposal.

INSPECTORATE

A total of 1115 cases were recorded and processed 

following inspections. This data is entered in a digitised

database which was created for this purpose containing

inspection and enforcement cases as per IMPEL. Around

another 100 inspections were carried out on complaints

that were either futile, without justification or which

were resolved on the spot. However the inspectorate

issued around 810 Enforcement Notices, 7 Stop Notices

and 25 letters of prosecution to ensure compliance with

the law.
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Transport Planning

One of the major tasks in which the Transport Planning

Unit was involved related to the Structure Plan Review.

Apart from finalising the public consultation draft of the

Transport Topic Paper, the TPU was also involved in 

continuing the work on the Utilities Topic Paper.

Whereas the latter paper has now been published and

finalised, the Transport Topic Paper is still in an uncertain

state, since it is still lacking valuable contribution from

ADT. This authority itself is in the process of issuing a

White Paper of transport policies, and we have no way

of knowing whether this will be in conflict with the

MEPA Transport Topic Paper.

Another task related to the Structure Plan Review was

that related to the updating of the parking standards.

This task is now in the final stages, where all the data has

been analyzed.

LOCAL PLAN PREPARATION 

Through its Transport Consultant and other planning

officers, the TPU has given its input to the local plan

preparation. The work was produced as required by the

Local Plan within the required time-frame.

The input of the Transport Planning Unit to the Local Plan

preparation was extended to include the Planning

Control Section, with a considerable amount of detailed

plans being prepared to allow changes to the schemes.

Although this work will, in the long run, benefit the

Planning Control Section, it has, in the short term

increased the workload, with the consequence that other

work had to be temporarily shelved. 

TRAFFIC VOLUME SURVEY

The Transport Planning Unit continued with its on-going

traffic survey program, using the automatic traffic 

counters on weekly basis as well as the permanent 

traffic counters installed in strategic locations.  

COMMUTED PARKING PAYMENT SCHEME

Following a request by the San Gwann Local Council,

TPU carried out studies to introduce the Commuted

Parking Payment Scheme (CPPS) in this locality.

However, by the time the studies were finalised the coun-

cil changed its mind and stated that it is no longer inter-

ested in the scheme.  

Studies were then carried out in Birkirkara, with the co-

operation of the Local Council to introduce the scheme

in this locality.

© Jody Fiteni
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The funds collected under the CPPS scheme until

September 2003, were as follows:

St. Julians Lm732,000

Sliema Lm561,300

Valletta/Floriana Lm353,000

St. Pauls Bay Lm435,000

Mosta Lm  54,800

Hamrun Lm  34,200

Victoria Lm  52,200

WORK IN TRANSPLUS PROJECT

The Transport Planning Unit continued giving an input in

the EU project, called TRANSPLUS - Transport Planning 

Land-Use and Sustainability.  For this project, the TPU has

joined forces with the Ministry of Transport and the

University of Malta.

The project, which comes to an end in October 2003, is

intended to share experiences of what have proved to be

the best practices throughout the EU and Accession

Countries, regarding innovative ways in which good

land-use planning was used to reduce the need for 

travel.  

EU JOINT EXPERT GROUP - Transport 

and Environment

The Transport Planning Unit has continued to represent

Malta in the EU Joint Expert Group on Transport and the

Environment.  This Group was set up by the European

Commission in September 1998, in order to exchange 

information and experience, identify the practices which

yield the best results in sustainable transport, and draw

up conclusions and make recommendations, to identify

the need for new initiatives, on strategy for sustainable

transport.  

The Transport Planning Unit, through its manager, is also

sitting on a Working Group of this committee, set to 

examine ways of splitting up transport growth from 

economic growth.

PLANNING CONTROL SECTION

During the past year, the Planning Control Section 

determined a total of 95 PC applications, compared to

the 123 that have been received. The rate of determination

has been increased by 20% over the previous year. 
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Land Surveying

During the year under review, the Land Survey Unit set out road levels and alignments for new developments as well

as providing a range of services to institutional clients.

An extra effort was directed at the Gozo Survey Section, where investment in equipment ensured that operations in

Malta and Gozo are at similar technical levels. A review of the Unit’s operations has lead to the consolidation of Control

Survey operations and a new focus to providing survey information to facilitate Development Control and Enforcement

operations.

SETTING OUT / CIVIL ENGINEERING SURVEYS SECTION

The unit was involved in the setting-out of road levels and alignments for private developments. During the year, 756

requests were submitted at the Land Survey Unit of which 52% were attended to within five (5) days and 91% of the

remaining were attended to within ten (10) days.

Table 4: Types of Setting-Out Requests Table 5: Timeliness of Setting-Out Requests

SETTING OUT GOVERNMENT AND LOCAL COUNCIL DEVELOPMENTS

The Setting-Out Survey Section has also been actively involved during the construction phase of Housing Projects for

the Government. Grids of levels and setting-out of housing blocks have been effected on 16 different sites 

comprising not less than 470 dwellings units and 400 garages/parking spaces. 

Setting-out services of scheme alignment and road formation levels were effected for 12km of streets around Malta

prior to surfacing of same by either Roads Directorate or Local Councils.

Additional
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Consult
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Enforce

Final
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Initial
70%
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w/days
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TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY SECTION

Table 6: Shift of Topographic Surveys (Internal to External)

The revenue of the Unit is mainly generated from the activities of this Section. This year revenue increased by 49%

with the main requests for services coming from the Malta Transport Authority and the Foundation for Tomorrow’s

schools.

The above was a collective effort between Land Survey Unit (Malta and Gozo) and the Survey Section within the

Mapping Unit.

Topographic information was also prepared following requests by Local Councils with a view to carrying out detailed

leveling studies to enable better planning of road levels.

GENERAL

The Land Survey Unit has been requested to extend its assistance to the Faculty of Archeology of the University of

Malta during archeological excavations at Juno Heights - Marsaxlokk. The survey works are generally related to setting

out of specific survey points.
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Information Technology

WEB SERVICES

The MEPA portal continued to be updated with new

services. The site now containing integrated services

from both Planning and the Environmental data. The

Environment section has been re-designed with the look

in feel of the organisation’s portal. The Environment

Section now has an up-to-date Legislation, including

Government and Legal notices, supplementary guidance

and publications relating to the Environment. It also

houses the air quality section describing the air quality-

monitoring program and the results obtained by the 

program in the locations examined. It gives information

about localities, monitoring periods, actual days monitored,

parameters monitored and exceedances. EcoExplore can

also be found under the Environment section. This gives

information about plants, animals and habitats. Images

and descriptions are included for a better explanation of

the flora and fauna found on the Maltese islands. A

search is also included in this section to find plants, 

animals and habitats.

EXTERNAL CONNECTIVITY

In order to support enhanced Web services and connec-

tivity to other organizations, a fibre-based ATM connec-

tion was layed, linking MEPA Offices to our ISP and also

to Government.  This new connection now supports 

current and anticipated network traffic and will also be

utilized to connect MEPA’s offices in Kordin and Gozo to

the main LAN in Floriana.

ENHANCEMENTS TO ACOLAID

Enhancements to the core database application utilized

within the Authority have been carried out. A number of

changes were done to the plotting, reconsideration,

appeals and monitoring forms catering for new user

requirements.  The security system was enhanced to

cater for case type based security, enabling field level

security based on the case type chosen within any system.

As a result, different application types can now be handled

within Acolaid. Data driven security was also introduced

whereby fields are enabled/disabled depending on the

input provided.

IN-HOUSE SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT

This year a number of systems have been developed to

be utilized within the Organisation. These include the

Carnet De Chasse System, enhancements to the Time &

Attendance Viewer, a Support Services Stock Control /

Inventory System and a Document Repository for

Twinning Documents. Further more maintenance and

upgrades to already installed systems were effected during

the year.

FLORIANA LAN EXTENSION

As part of the Office extension project in Floriana, two

new office blocks were set up and connected to the main

LAN. A new cabling infrastructure within these blocks

was layed, terminated and hence connected to the main

LAN through Fiber connectivity. Also some 150 new

workstations were purchased and installed in the offices

of MEPA to cater both for new users and the upgrade of

older workstations that had become unserviceable. 

NEW PABX SYSTEM

A new PABX System has been implemented during the

current year.  This new telephony system can cater for

the total number of telephone extensions installed within

the organization besides offering a suite of telephony

services catering for present and future requirements.

Site Hits

Table 1: Site hits by month for www.mepa.org.mt
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ISO QUALITY CERTIFICATION

The ISO 9002 Quality Certification has been successfully

upgraded to the new ISO 9001:2000. This upgraded

standard includes improved customer relations and 

satisfaction, better services to clients and easier 

maintainability of the quality system.

ENVIRONMENTAL DATA REPORTING

The IT department has embarked on a project to provide

priority data flow reporting to the European Environment

Agency and European Commission.  The project aims to

define the dataflow process necessary for the implementation

of EEA (European Environment Agency) and EC

(European Communities) environmental obligations.

Both EEA and EC dataflow requirements follow similar

patterns of dataflow, thus a single structure was set up

to coordinate and manage said flows. During the yare a

number of priority dataflows have been forwarded to the

European Environment Agency:  

NATIONALLY DESIGNATED AREAS

Natural areas that have been designated as protected by

designation types and individual site records. Data contains

attributes on site records, geographical coordinates of

the centre of the site, the size and the category of the

site according to the IUCN. In Malta's case these include

protected cliffs, antique trees and islands, amongst others.

VALIDATED OZONE DATA FOR PREVIOUS YEAR

Ozone (03) data that has been recorded for the year

2002, including an anlysis of when records have registered

a greater than designated limit values, which Malta is

subject to due to its central Mediterranean position. 

MONTHLY OZONE DATA FOR CURRENT YEAR

Monthly Ozone records of exceedances above the

180microgram/m3 limit. Data is submitted to the EEA on

a monthly basis.

EXCHANGE  OF INFORMATION (Eol) DATA

Information recording air quality data on an annual level

is submitted and covers most types of gases, though the

year 2002 data covers only Ozone as other gases are not

gathered at the Giordan Lighthouse in gozo which is the

Maltese islands background station. It is envisaged that 5

new stations will be installed over the next few years.

CLC 2000 UPDATE PROGRESS

The Corinne Land Cover 2000 is a GIS-based exercise

aimed at gathering data on land cover from satellite

imagery. The Maltese Islands dataset was completed in

August 2003 and will be reviewed in the next run in

2010.

CONTAMINATED SOIL DATA

Data on contaminated soil is currently being gathered by

MEPA and the Department of Agriculture. This includes

information on sludge used for agricultural purposes and

heavy metals found in soil. The IT Section is also 

participating in diverse EU projects such as ESPON,

InterMETREX, PolyMETREXplus, e-Cuisine, CLC2000,

INSPIRE and  EUROGI-GINIE

GIS FUNCTION

Studies are carried out on a strategic and local level

through GIS analysis for the diverse requirements within

MEPA including digitisation and data inputting, map

generation, VRML outputs, 3D and viewshed analysis,

interpolation exercises as well as the publication of

diverse maps and reports emanating from GIS research.

A recent GIS project entitled CLC2000 (Corinne Land

Cover 2000) was completed in collaboration with the

Environmental Agency of Austria (UBA).

PUBLICATIONS & REPORTS

The IT Section is also responsible for the creation of interactive

CDs, with recent publications CAMP, and Benthic Habitats

of the Maltese Islands. During the year, the Technical

Report for Structure Plan Review was also completed.
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Mapping

MAPPING

The Mapping Unit continues to maintain the GIS system

and to provide a national mapping service for the

Maltese islands delivered over the Internet as well as to

individual and corporate customers.

LARGE-SCALE TOPOGRAPHIC MAP PRODUCTION

The Mapping Unit continued to consolidate its large

scale map base as the basic product for clients requiring

mapping for a range of  land management services. This

product is complemented by the increasing popularity of

Orthophotography. National coverage at 0.25m resolution

is now being used extensively through the MEPA website

and is finding increasing use by a number of key corporate

clients.

EXTERNAL SERVICES

The on-line GIS on the MEPA web site continued to provide

public access to a large scale mapping and orthoimagery.

The Unit also participated in the provision of land and 

building surveys for the Malta Transport Authority and the

Foundation for Tomorrow’s Schools. During the same period

the Unit was commissioned to carry out a detailed land use

survey of the harbour area. This project was successfully

delivered with a focused effort on coordinating the inputs

from a number of areas of expertise in the Authority.

INTERNAL SERVICES

The Mapping Unit consolidated a range of survey control

activities within the Unit. Providing the services necessary

to support the development of the Authority’s GIS. 

INTERNATIONAL PROJECTS

The Mapping Unit has been commissioned to prototype

a GIS enabled Internet portal for a FAO Mediterranean 

fisheries project. This new opportunity allowed the Unit

to consolidate skills in deploying the latest technical solutions

that will be applied to the Authority’s own web site.

Mapping fieldwork
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Heritage Management

TWENTY SITES SCHEDULED IN KALKARA

Twenty sites of natural, cultural and historic importance

in Kalkara have been scheduled as the Malta

Environment & Planning Authority continues to extend

its protection to the rich heritage found around Grand

Harbour. The list of scheduled heritage sites includes

around 400,000 square metres of land for its scientific

(geological) and ecological importance, military buildings,

cart ruts, cemeteries and a convent which are now legally

protected through the Development Planning Act. Any

development in the area shall be required to respect the

scheduled status of the sites.

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON THE 

REGENERATION OF URBAN CORES

An international conference on urban regeneration was

organized by MEPA, the Malta Tourism Authority (MTA)

and the World Urban Development Forum (INTA), the

conference brought together key players in the field of

urban regeneration from Europe, the Mediterranean, the

Near East, the US and Canada. Around 40 speakers

made presentations at the conference. The appropriate

re-use of historic buildings, the economic viability of 

regeneration projects, transport systems and tourism

were among the issues raised at the three-day conference.

MEPA DONATES LM17,000 TOWARDS THE 

RESTORATION OF WOODEN BALCONIES

MEPA this year donated Lm17,000 towards the restoration

of wooden balconies in Cottonera and Kalkara. This was

the fifth initiative of its kind. Since 1996, a total of

Lm96,000 have been allocated and this latest donation

was destined to 46 beneficiary in Bormla, Birgu, Isla and

Kalkara. 

The Citadel - Gozo
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Communications and Customer Care

CUSTOMER CARE

The Customer Care Desk at Chairman’s Office handled

472 complaints and queries during the financial year

under review, down from 500 the previous year. Forty of

the complaints originated from the Ombudsman’s Office,

down from 46 the previous year. Complaints received in

this office originate from four sources: 

COMPLAINTS FROM THE PUBLIC

The complaints which merited an investigation, mainly

concerned three categories: reporting of illegal developments,

alleging that no further action was taken following the

serving of enforcement notices and objecting to the

granting of permits and the removal or non-fixing of a

site notice.In more than half the cases, an explanation of

the procedures followed in each case was sufficient.

COMPLAINTS FROM THE PUBLIC

MEPA works in close liaison with the Ombudsman’s

Office which, between 1995 and 2002 handled a total of

312 complaints on MEPA. Only 15% were upheld, which

is a very small fraction when compared to 50,000 

development control decisions taken by MEPA over the

same period. The cases lodged with the Ombudsman’s

Office could also fall in three categories: reporting of 

illegal developments, enforcement not effective and

objecting to approved applications.Yet again procedures

were explained and MEPA officers attended meetings at

the Ombudsman’s Office. The Chairman and Senior

Management met the Ombudsman on two occasions

during this financial year to discuss the problems arising

out of a few cases.

E-MAIL COMPLAINTS OR QUERIES

As from May 2002, the public was offered the facility to

lodge a complaint or query through MEPA’s web-site. These

letters dealt largely with small issues, such as delays in

the processing of applications, requests for pre-submission

meetings and reporting illegal development on sites on

which enforcement notices have already been served.

GENERAL CORRESPONDENCE

The public also sent letters querying when their application

is to be discussed, whether their objection letters were

received and inserted in the relevant file, procedures, etc.

The contents of the letters were noted and the relevant

action taken. A reply was always issued.   

COMPLAINTS FROM BOARD MEMBERS

Thirty-Seven letters from Board Members were received

at the Complaints Office. The subject of these letters

could vary from a letter objecting to development, query

on a particular approved application etc.

PUBLIC RELATIONS

During the year, this office was heavily engaged in the

process leading to the formulation of a new Mission,

Vision and Values statement for the organization. A

statement was formulated by the board and the decision

was taken to democratize the process further by eliciting

the input of the staff. MISCO was commissioned to

rationalize this process through two workshops for the

staff and a further two workshops for stakeholders. Until

publication, the staff workshops were concluded and

MISCO presented its findings to the Board. The findings

indicate a clear convergence of ideas between the draft

approved by the Board and the ideas put forward by the

staff, a happy tandem for a harmonious way forward.

This office co-ordinates all public relations initiatives

taken by the organisation and during the review period

issued  88 statements and organised 25 press coverages.

The office also handled the day-to-day press queries and

co-ordinated interviews and participation in radio and

television programs.
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Public Participation

The Development Planning Act and the Environment

Protection Act require MEPA to undertake various 

activities related to public participation and awareness

raising. This, coupled with the new remits stemming from

the EU’s Acquis, led to the formation of a new unit at

MEPA to improve communications to inform, educate,

raise awareness and encourage participation in environ-

mental planning and management.

SETTING UP THE COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC

PARTICIPATION FUNCTION

A short term rolling strategy for communication and par-

ticipation was drawn up and human and financial

resources were allocated.

UNDERTAKING ENVIRONMENTAL 

AWARNESS RAISING

Articles and features appeared in print media on diverse

topics ranging from urban regeneration to waste 

management regulations. The unit also issued the Green

Points. MEPA staff participated in TV and radio programs 

discussing environmental and planning issues.  

MEPA’s website was enhanced as a tool for communica-

tion, with an on-line subscription form and issues of

monthly newsletters. The unit also co-ordinated MEPA’s

participation in a number of Fairs and national events.

MEPA stands typically featured various multi-media pre-

sentations, animated theatre shows, live public debates

and information dissemination activities.  

The unit was also responsible for:

• National co-ordination of World 

Environment Day 2003 (5th June, 2003). 

• MEPA’s participation in Car Free Day 

(22nd September, 2003)

• Celebrations relating to 10 years of planning 

in Malta (December 2002)

ENCOURAGING PARTICIPATION IN PLANNING 

AND LOCAL AGENDA 21 INITIATIVES

Under the terms of Local Agenda 21 initiatives, the unit

piloted the Eco Schools program. MEPA acted as a chief 

sponsor and a catalyst, setting up a multi-stakeholder

committee. 

INTERNATIONAL LIASON IN ENVIRONMENTAL 

COMMUNICATION

On the international front, the unit worked on the EU

directive on Freedom of Access to Information on the

Environment, the Aarhus Convention, as well as other

Conventions with requirements related to communication.

In addition, the unit prepared and submitted proposals

for funding under the EU Transitional Facility for projects

as well as under the EU educational program Leonardo,

and contributed to the preparation of applications under

LIFE and under Grundtvig. 
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Legal Office

During the period under review, the Legal affairs of

MEPA were handled by the Legal Office and by the firm

Abela, Stafrace and Associates. 

The Legal Office  received and dealt with 59 judicial let-

ters/judicial protests. Eighteen warrants of prohibitory

injunction were served on MEPA and handled by the

Legal Office, 16 of which have been decided by the

Superior Courts. The Legal Office received and handled a

total of 57 new Court of Appeal cases on behalf of MEPA

and, during the same period, 91 court cases were decided

by the Court of Appeal. Furthermore, a total of 27 new

Superior Court cases were instituted against MEPA, during

which period a total of 7 court cases were decided by the

Superior Courts. A further 13 new court cases were 

instituted by MEPA Legal Office before the Inferior

Courts, during which period 10 court cases were decided

by the Inferior Courts. The Legal Office also represented

MEPA judicially in all court cases to which MEPA is a party.

Being responsible for nearly all litigation  involving MEPA

in the Courts of Law, the law firm attended an average of 25

court sittings per week. The majority of cases, roughly

65%, related to appeals filed by applicants or MEPA from

decisions of the Planning Appeals Board, whereas the

firm also provided legal assistance during warrants for

prohibitory injunction, civil litigation, proceedings 

instituted by MEPA to recover costs incurred for direct

action and proceedings before the tribunal for the 

investigation of injustices. The majority of these proceedings

were conducted in Malta, but  a small number of cases

were heard by the Court of Magistrates in Gozo. Four

lawyers within the firm handle MEPA matters - namely

appeals, prohibitory injunctions and civil litigation being

handled by Dr. George Abela, Dr. Ian J. Stafrace and Dr.

Claire Stafrace Zammit; whereas proceedings before the

Tribunal for the investigations of Injustices and those

instituted by MEPA for the recovery of costs incurred for

direct action (most of which are before the Small Claims

Tribunal) being handled by Dr. Claire Stafrace Zammit

and Dr. Lydia Zerafa. During the period in question,

approximately125 judgements were delivered in court

proceedings involving MEPA. On the other hand a total

of 200 appeals, writs of summons, court applications

(rikorsi), notes of submissions, warrants for prohibitory

injunction, official letters and judicial protests were filed

against or received by the Authority. MEPA also instituted

35 cases against third parties for the recovery of expenses

incurred by MEPA for direct actions.      

GENERAL CONSULTANCY

The law firm also provided general legal advice to MEPA

on any matter (other than appeals before the Planning

Appeals Board). During the period in question advice was

sought on matters involving Environment Protection. Dr.

George Abela, Dr. Ian J. Stafrace and Dr. Claire Stafrace

Zammit attended MEPA offices on a daily basis (average

of 35 hours per week) to advise on  Development

Planning matters. On the other hand the needs emanating

from the Environment Protection Directorate were 

handled by Dr. Ian J. Stafrace. Here the law firm was

involved in replies to legal queries referred to legal office

by MEPA Board, officials and the DCC, replies to legal 

letters and protests filed against MEPA, as well as 

attendance to meetings as and when requested. 

LEGISLATION

Abela, Stafrace and Associates also assisted MEPA in the

drafting, vetting and/or translation of legislative instruments.

This work has increased during the recent months due to

obligatory compliance with EU Directives. In  this regard,

firm lawyers attended and participaetd in seminars

organised by MEPA and the Ministry on such legislative

instruments.
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Current State of knowledge 
of the Maltese Non-Marine Fauna

PREAMBLE

In 1993 I published the first review of the non-marine

fauna of the Maltese Islands in 80 years (Schembri [P1],

1993), the only previous comprehensive review of this

type being the work of Giovanni Gulia presented in 1913

(Gulia, 1914). I am glad to report that in the past 10

years my review has become outdated in many places; I

say ‘glad’ because it means that in the interim period,

research on the Maltese fauna has continued and new

discoveries have been made, while existing information

has been revised. My previous review is sufficiently out of

date to warrant a revised ‘new edition’, and this is what

I will attempt to do here. In the following work, I have

kept the basic structure of my previous review and,

where no changes were necessary, also more or less the

original text. However, I have completely rewritten those

parts where new information has rendered the previous

text obsolete. I have opted to do this rather then just

review the new information that has become available

since 1993 in order that the present work stands alone

and the reader does not require to keep referring back to

the previous review, not least because the volume in

which this was published is not out of print. I have strived

to give as complete a picture of our current state of

knowledge of the Maltese non-marine fauna as possible,

but given the vastness of the literature and the disparity

of the sources, I am certain that there are omissions. For

these I apologise to the reader but I nonetheless trust

that this work will be of some utility.

INTRODUCTION

In 1913, Giovanni Gulia, one of the foremost Maltese

naturalists of that period, attended the Ninth

International Zoological Congress held in Monaco and

read a paper titled "Uno sguardo alla zoologia delle Isole

Maltesi" (Gulia, 1914).  This was a review of zoological

research on the islands carried out to that date, treating

both the marine and the non-marine fauna, and it 

summarised much of the earlier literature as well as gave

additional unpublished information. Since that time, no

one has attempted to review the Maltese fauna as a

whole, although many studies have been carried out on

individual groups. Schembri [P] (1989a; 1991) listed the

major faunal taxa occurring in terrestrial and freshwater

habitats in the Maltese Islands and gave the number of

species known for each, or, in the case of groups which

had not been studied, an estimate of the number of

species expected to occur on the islands. These estimates

were repeated and updated in the sections concerning

biodiversity in the two ‘State of the Environment’ reports

published to date (see Schembri [P] et al., 1999; 2002).

An annotated list of the endemic2, rare, threatened

and/or scientifically interesting species that occur in the

Maltese Islands was given in the ‘Red Data Book for the

Maltese Islands’ edited by Schembri [P] & Sultana (1989).

In 1993, Schembri [P] published a review of the non-

marine fauna of the Maltese Islands in which he attempted

to give a summary of the state of knowledge to that time

as well as a preliminary biogeographical analysis

(Schembri [P], 1993). Following this model, Mifsud

(2000a) published a review of the insect fauna of the

Maltese Islands in which, apart from adding new 

information that became available since Schembri’s

work, he also corrected a number of omissions and 

misinterpretations concerning insects. No other 

comprehensive reviews have been produced since,

although there was an attempt to create a national 

database on the biodiversity of the Maltese Islands; after

a promising start, this project is now dormant (Sant et al.,

2001). A number of new database initiatives are in

progress, amongst the most important of which are the

biodiversity databases being set up by the Environment

Protection Directorate of the Malta Environment and

Planning Authority3, and the Fauna Europaea project4,

however, these are not presently publicly available.

Patrick J. Schembri

Department of Biology, University of Malta, Msida, Malta MSD06

E-mail: patrick.j.schembri@um.edu.mt
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Since Giovanni Gulia’s days, hundreds of papers dealing

with some aspect or other of the Maltese fauna have

been published and it is no longer possible for a short

review such as the present one to cover the entire field.

For this reason, I have had to be selective in what to

include. In this work I shall be concerned only with the

terrestrial and freshwater fauna, only including those

marine species that are semi-terrestrial or live in brackish

water, and exclusively with multicellular forms (Metazoa)

and living species. I make no attempt to list and review

every publication dealing with a particular faunal group

but rather limit myself to key works, particularly those

that summarize previous literature and provide some

form of synthesis of our knowledge of the group. The

present work, therefore, is more of an annotated guide

to the literature on the Maltese non-marine fauna than

an encyclopaedic account. It should also serve to 

highlight areas were our knowledge is inadequate and

therefore where more work needs to be done. Within

each group, I pay particular attention to species of 

biogeographical interest, such as those with a limited

Mediterranean distribution, those linking the Maltese

Islands to other regions within the Mediterranean area,

and especially to endemic forms and their affinities.

However, it should be kept in mind that some supposedly

endemic species are only ‘endemic’ because to date they

have not been found elsewhere, either because of lack of

research or because they have only been recently

described. As will be demonstrated several times in the

text that follows, species previously thought to be

endemic to the Maltese Islands are now known from

elsewhere; this does not make them any less interesting,

however, especially from the biogeographical point of

view. Conversely, the application of modern molecular

genetic methods of taxonomic analysis has shown that

some local populations that are morphologically similar

to mainland populations are actually quite well differen-

tiated genetically. This has obvious important 

implications for their conservation. Finally I also take this

opportunity to report some previously unpublished data

resulting from recent research by myself and my students

and co-workers.

LOWER INVERTEBRATES

The phylum CNIDARIA5 is represented by one species of

freshwater hydrozoan, a species of Hydra possibly H.

viridissima, which, although relatively common and well

known, has not been formally studied.  Three terrestrial

turbellarian PLATYHELMINTHES (flatworms) occur:

Microplana terrestris, Rhynochodemus bilineatus

(Lanfranco [E], 1970) and the introduced Bipalium

kewense (Lanfranco [E], 1975).  At least five species of

freshwater turbellarians also occur but these have not

been studied.  Of the other platyhelminth classes only the

medically important flukes and tapeworms have received

attention. Savona Ventura (2002) reviews these records

and lists a tapeworm belonging to the genus Taenia

(?saginata, ?solium).

The aschelminth phyla ROTIFERA, GASTROTRICHA,

NEMATODA and NEMATOMORPHA are all represented

on the islands but only the last two have received any

attention. Plant-parasitic NEMATODA (roundworms) of

economic importance have been systematically studied

by Lamberti & Dandria (1979), who review previous work

and by Lamberti et al. (1984) and Larizza & Lamberti

(1995); two species, Longidorus magnus and Xiphinema

melitense (both family Longidoridae) were originally

described from Malta as new (Lamberti et al., 1982) but

are now know also from Sicily and/or the south of Italy.

As far as is know, only one species of NEMATOMORPHA

(horsehair worms) occurs in the Maltese Islands, Gordius

aquaticus (W.H. De Smet, personal communication

1995), a common and widespread European species.

Records of nematodes of medical importance were

reviewed by Savona Ventura (2002) who lists Ascaris 

lumbricoides, Enterobius vermicularis and Trichuris trichiurus.

Haemopis sanguisuga
The predatory leech Haemopis sanguisuga, a rare species locally, as far as is

known, now limited to just one locality in Gozo.

© P. J. Schembri
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To date, no works on the freshwater and terrestrial

oligochaetes (freshwater worms and earthworms; 

phylum ANNELIDA) of the Maltese Islands have been

published, although a work in progress has discovered

some 10 different species of earthworms (Lumbricidae

and related families), including introduced alien species

and a number of species of enchytraeids (family

Enchytraeidae) from terrestrial (leaf litter, soil) and coastal

(seagrass banquettes) habitats (Emila Rota, personal 

communications, 1996, 2003).

One leech (class Hirudinea), Haemopis sanguisuga, a

species widely distributed in Europe including Italy and

Sicily, occurs locally in the wild as small isolated 

populations (Schembri [P], 1986; Savona Ventura et al.,

2000). A second species, Batracobdella algira, parasitic

on the frog Discoglossus pictus pictus and known also

from North Africa and Sardinia also occurs but it is not

known whether this is a true native or has been 

introduced; other species have been imported for 

medical purposes in the past but no longer occur, 

however, populations of the introduced alien freshwater

species Barbronia (?) assiuti occasionally infest heated

aquaria (Savona Ventura et al., 2000).

Species of TARDIGRADA (water bears) are known to

occur in the Maltese Islands (J. Schembri, personal 

communication 1989) but this group has not been studied.

MOLLUSCS

There exists a very rich literature on the terrestrial and

freshwater MOLLUSCA of the Maltese Islands with well

over 70 publications on individual species or on the

group as a whole. Reviews have been provided by Soós

(1933), Beckmann (1987) and Mandahl-Barth (1988),

while Thake & Schembri [P] (1989) listed the endemic

and threatened species, Schembri [P] (1995) discussed 

conservation, and Soós (1933) and Thake (1985) provided

biogeographical analyses. Up to 1995, there was a lot of

confusion as to which species actually occurred and on

the taxonomic status of several Maltese taxa; some 100

species and subspecific taxa were recorded of which a

remarkably large number, depending on author ranging

from 20% to 38% of the total number of species, were

considered as endemic. In 1995, Folco Giusti and his 

co-workers published a monograph on the non-marine

molluscs of the Maltese Islands in which they gave a

complete revision of the Maltese malacofauna using

both classical and molecular genetic techniques, aimed

at resolving longstanding taxonomic and biogeographical

problems (Giusti et al., 1995). According to these

authors, the terrestrial, freshwater and brackish water

malacofauna of the Maltese Islands comprises 70 species

of which 68 are gastropods and two are bivalves. Of the

gastropods, nine are brackish water species, 10 are fresh-

water, and the remainder are terrestrial. 

Eight species are of more or less recent human introduction:

Pomatias elegans and Discus rotundatus are only found

in a single public garden; the freshwater planorbid (rams-

horn snail) Helisoma duryi, occurs in ponds in public 

gardens, however, a population became established in

the wild during 1986-87 but subsequently disappeared;

the freshwater bladder-snail Physa acuta has invaded

many natural freshwater biotopes, while the others occur

in private gardens, agricultural areas and urbanized habitats.

The number of endemic taxa is much less than previously

reported: 6 out of 70 living species (9%). None of the

brackish water molluscs are now considered endemic.

Taxonomically, the most interesting freshwater species

are the hydrobiids (snouted water-snails), some of which

were described as endemic species (e.g. Amnicola

melitensis, Paludinella kobelti; see Alzona, 1971 and

Boeters & Beckmann, 1989). Only two freshwater 

hydrobiids occur, Mercuria cf. similis and Pseudamnicola

moussonii; the exact identity of the former is somewhat

problematic as it belongs to a group of very similar forms

occurring all along the coasts of the Mediterranean and

in the absence of genetic studies it is not possible to say

whether these are sibling species6 or simple morphs7. Of

the terrestrial species, the most interesting are the

endemics and those species with a limited geographical

distribution. These include: a possibly new species of

Vitrea, the slug Lehmannia melitensis, and two other

snails - Cernuella caruanae and Schileykiella parlatoris -

all of which are Siculo-Maltese endemics8;
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the very rare subterranean carnivorous slug Testacella

riedeli, which is a Maghrebian-Maltese endemic9; the

door snails Lampedusa imitatrix, Lampedusa melitensis

and Muticaria macrostoma, the top snails Trochoidea

spratti and Trochoidea gharlapsi, and the helicid

Marmorana melitensis, all of which are strictly endemic

to the Maltese Islands. Of the strict endemics, the clausiliids

(Lampedusa and Muticaria) and the hygromiid

Trochoidea are particularly interesting from the scientific

point of view, and also, because they demonstrate the

taxonomic complexity of the local Mollusca and the 

confusion that existed before modern molecular genetic

methods were applied to the problem.

Soós (1933) split the Maltese Lampedusa into two sub-

genera: Imitatrix with three species (imitatrix, melitensis

and gattoi) and Muticaria with another three (syracusana

and its var. oscitans, scalaris and mamotica). With the

exception of L.syracusana, he considered all to be

endemic to the Maltese Islands. Zilch (1977) regarded all

the Imitatrix to be subspecies of L. imitatrix, and the

Muticaria to be subspecies of M. syracusana, elevating

oscitans to subspecific rank. Holyoak (1986) followed

Zilch except that he did not recognize subgenera.

Beckmann & Gittenberger (1987) considered the Maltese

populations of L.syracusana to be a separate species

from Sicilian populations and referred the Maltese 

populations to L.macrostoma with four subspecies:

macrostoma, oscitans, scalaris and mamotica. Applying

classical conchological10 and anatomical analyses as well

as modern molecular genetic techniques, Giusti et al.

(1995) showed that two biological species of Lampedusa

occur on the Maltese Islands (with a third species, L.

lopadusae, endemic to the Pelagian islands of

Lampedusa and Lampione): L.imitatrix, endemic to the

islands of Malta and Filfla, and L.melitensis, endemic to

the island of Malta, that differentiated from L.imitatrix.

Giusti et al. (1995) also confirmed that Muticaria is a

good genus, but only has two biological species: M.

macrostoma endemic to the Maltese Islands (except

Filfla), and M. syracusana endemic to southeastern Sicily.

Both species have numerous conchological forms that

were assigned specific or infraspecific status in the past,

but which molecular genetic analysis has shown to be 

little more than local demes11. The situation with the

Trochoidea is even more confusing. Recent enumerations

(e.g. Soós, 1933; Alzona, 1971; Beckmann, 1987;

Mandahl-Barth, 1988) list eight species: Trochoidea

(Trochoidea) spratti, schembrii, calcarata, ogygiaca,

cucullus and despotti, and Trochoidea (Xeroclausa) 

gharlapsi and meda; all except the last, considered

endemic. However, different authors interpret these

species differently and the names used by one worker

are not necessarily equivalent to those used by others.

Again, applying classical and modern techniques of 

taxonomic analysis, Giusti et al. (1995) showed that

many of the taxa attributed to Trochoidea (s.str.) can be

referred to a single, highly variable species for which the

oldest available name is T. spratti; the differences in shell

morphology on which most of the classical ‘species’ are

based are in reality peculiar to small local populations or

else to groups of individuals forming part of larger 

populations in which shell morphology is very variable.

Intermediate forms between most of the classical

‘species’ can be readily found. However, even if not 

constituting good biological species, some of the

localised demes or ecotypes12 of both Muticaria and

Trochoidea are sufficiently reproductively isolated to have

retained distinct genetic units and are worthy of 

conservation.

Very little on the Maltese non-marine malacofauna has

been published since Giusti et al.’s (1995) monograph.

Hopfinger & Fischer (1996) report finding a recent specimen

of a Siciliaria sp. on Gozo – previously only Quaternary

fossils of Siciliaria cf. septemplicata were known (from

Malta). However it is not clear if this was an empty shell,

in which case it may be a fossil eroded out of its stratum.

So far no other specimens have been discovered.

Based on conchological differences, Beckmann (2003a)

recently described a new subspecies of ‘Trochoidea (s.str.)

cucullus’ that he named T.c.soosi, restricted to the south-

western coast of Malta; Beckmann disagrees

with the interpretation of Giusti et al. (1995) that all

conchological forms of Trochoidea (s.str) in the Maltese

Islands belong to a single species that is highly variable in

shell morphology.
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Additionally, Beckmann (2003b) reported Lehmannia

valentiana, an exotic slug that is now widely distributed

in greenhouses, from a hotel at Msida. The present

author has received specimens of two species of alien

snails (a species of Otala and one of Cernuella) collected

from local garden centres, most likely imported with 

garden plants (Albert Micallef, personal communication

2003). 

CHELICERATES

Of the CHELICERATA, only the orders Scorpiones,

Pseudoscorpiones and Araneae have been studied in any

detail.  Only one species of scorpion occurs. Previously

this was considered to be Euscorpius carpathicus candiota,

a subspecies showing a complex of morphological 

characters intermediate between those of E.c.carpathicus

and E.mesotrichus (Schembri [P] & Schembri [S], 1990;

Kritscher, 1992) and related to similar intermediate 

populations found in Greece, some Greek islands and in

Crete. Because of this biogeographical relationship,

Kritscher (1992) considered it to be an introduced alien

species. However, a recent analysis of the ‘Euscorpius

carpathicus’ complex from Italy, Malta and Greece using

morphological and molecular genetic techniques (Fet et

al., 2003) has shown that the Maltese population

belongs to a lineage distinct from Euscorpius carpathicus

proper (which is limited to Romania) and which also

occurs in Sicily, Sardinia, central and southern Italy,

Greece and possibly parts of coastal North Africa; this

has been called Euscorpius sicanus. 

Mahnert (1975; 1982) studied the pseudoscorpions

(false scorpions) of the Maltese Islands and reported 23

species, most of which are widespread in the

Mediterranean area; however, two species,

Acanthocreagris italica and Chernes siciliensis were 

previously known only from southern Italy and/or Sicily,

and another, Minniza algerica, only from North Africa.

Two species, Chthonius maltensis and C. girgentiensis are

so far known only from the Maltese Islands.  The last

named is a cavernicolous species very close to another

such species, C. balearicus, from the Balearic Islands and

both are probably derived from the same parental stock

(C. gibbus; Mahnert, 1982).  Later, Gardini & Rizzerio

(1987) described a third presumably endemic species

from the islands, Roncus melitensis. This cavernicolous

species shows affinities with SE Sicilian species of the R.

siculus group. There are also recent additional 

unpublished new records (Volker Mahnert, personal

communication, 2002).

The opilionids (harvestmen) of the Maltese Islands have

received scant attention. Marcellino (1974) only recorded

two species: Metaphalangium propinquum, a common

and widespread Mediterranean species and Opilio

aspromontanus which has a Tyrrhenian distribution and

for which the Maltese Islands are the most southerly 

station. Later, Thaler (1996) added another species,

Ptychosoma vitellinum that is known from Sardinia,

southern Italy, Sicily and Algeria. Dandria (1996) records

an unidentified species of Phalangium and another of

Dicranolasma. Apart from these, there are unpublished

records of at least another six species (Gruber & Schembri

[P], in preparation; Jochen Martens, personal 

communication, 2003). No endemic species occur and

while the biogeographical affinities of the Maltese 

opilionid fauna are still not clear, all species present are

represented also in Sicily, southern Italy and North Africa.

It is only recently that the spiders (Araneae) of the

Maltese Islands have received attention. The best-known

group are the Salticidae (jumping spiders), which were

studied by Cantarella (1982). This author recorded 15

species, 12 of which are also known from Sicily, including

one, Aelurillus schembrii, which is a Siculo-Maltese

endemism; of the non-Sicilian species, two are 

cosmopolitan and a third occurs on the Eolian Islands.

Baldacchino et al. (1993) reviewed the literature on

Maltese spiders and all known records to that date, and

added some 48 new records, not all of which were 

identified with certainly, bringing the total know Maltese

species to 74 from 21 different families. Another nine

species, including one new to science, were added by

Bosmans & Dandria (1993) bringing the total to 83

species in 22 families. The new species, Lepthyphantes

melitensis, is most closely related to L.carusoi from Sicily

and in turn, both these species show affinities with

L.labilis from Algeria;
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to date, L.melitensis is still only know from the islands of

Malta and Filfla. A little later, Kritscher (1996) published

an extensive list of species collected by him from the

Maltese Islands. In this he added another 66 new records

including an additional four species of salticids to

Cantarella’s (1982) list, and five species new to science.

Two of these new species, Dipoenata cana and Scotina

occulta, are only known from Gozo, in the case of the

former, from a single female only; the other three,

Palpimanus punctatus, Syedra parvula and Poecilochroa

loricata are known from both main islands. Kritscher

(1996) does not analyse the affinities of these new

species, except for Dipoenata cana which he says is close

to D. tristis and D. braccata, which also occur on the

Italian mainland. Apart from these apparently endemic

species described by Bosmans & Dandria (1993) and

Kritscher (1996), the only other endemic Maltese spider

known to date is the trapdoor spider Nemesia arboricola

described by Pocock (1903) and not recorded from 

anywhere except the Maltese Islands since. The validity

of this species was confirmed by Kritscher (1994) who

redescribed the type specimen13 and highlighted the 

differences between Nemesia arboricola and the closely

related N.macrocephala of Sicily. Dandria (2001) 

confirmed that all records of the latter (N.macrocephala)

species from the Maltese Islands actually refer to

N.arboricola; this same author provides interesting 

information about the distribution and biology of this

species, especially its habit of constructing its ‘traps’

(nests) in palm trees.

Condé (1988) has described a new species of 

cavernicolous microwhipscorpion (Palpigradi) from the

Maltese Islands.  This species, Eukoenenia christiani,

shows affinities with E.j.juberthiei from Lebanon. Many

species of Acarina occur but only commercially important

ones have been studied (Caruana Gatto, 1926; Saliba,

1963; David Dandria, personal communication 2003).

Dandria (1996) records the tick Ixodes ricinoides and the

red spider mite, Tetranychus telarius, while Sultana &

Gauci (1977-78) record Ixodes ricinus and Ixodes pari

parasitic on Willow Warbler (Phylloscopus trochilus) and

Blackcap (Sylvia atricapilla), respectively. Savona Ventura

(2002) records the tick Laelaps echidninus from rats and

Sarcoptes scabiei, the mite causing scabies in humans

and other mammals. 

CRUSTACEANS

Baldacchino (1983) has reviewed previous work on fresh-

water CRUSTACEA from the Maltese Islands to that date

and added new records, some of which are now known

to be misidentifications.

The Maltese species of the branchiopod orders

Anostraca, Notostraca and Spinicaudata have been

revised by Lanfranco [S] et al. (1991) and again more

recently by Lanfranco [S] (2001). All three orders are 

represented locally by a single species each. The local

anostracan (fairy shrimp) is Branchipus schaefferi, a

species widely distributed throughout the Palaearctic; a

second ‘species’, B.visnyai that also occurs is now regarded

as synonymous with B.stagnalis. The Notostraca (tadpole

shrimps) are represented by Triops cancriformis

cancriformis, which is widely distributed in Europe, while

the Spinicaudata (clam shrimps) are represented by

Cyzicus tetracerus, another widespread Palaearctic

species. Lanfranco [S] (2001) also reviewed previous

records of the order Cladocera (waterfleas) and added

new ones. Seven species and a doubtful eighth occur, all

of which have a circum-Mediterranean, Palaearctic or

even wider distribution.

Freshwater cyclopoid and calanoid copepods (oar

shrimps; class Copepoda) are known to occur. Zammit

Lucia (1976) and Lanfranco [S] (1990) record an 

unidentified species of Cyclops and Lanfranco [S] (1996)

records Cyclops vulgaris. No other studies have been

made. Freshwater ostracods (seed shrimps; order

Podocopa) also occur, but these have not been studied;

Lanfranco [S] (1996) records Cypris pubera and

Herpetocypris reptans, both common Italian species.

One species of freshwater isopod has been recorded,

Proasellus coxalis (Baldacchino, 1983 as Asellus coxalia),

and another probably occurs (C. A. Lombardo, personal

communication 1975).
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The terrestrial Isopoda (woodlice) of the Maltese Islands

have been studied by Caruso and his co-workers (see

Caruso & Lombardo, 1982; Caruso et al., 1987, and 

references therein).  Forty-two species were recorded of

which four are endemic (Spelaeoniscus vallettai,

Armadillidium aelleni, Armadillidium schmalfussi,

Bathytropa schembrii). A further six species, including

another endemic (Armadillidium ghardalamensis) were

added by Caruso & Hili (1991). The new endemic species

described by these authors, Armadillidium ghardalamensis,

is morphologically closely related to A.lagrecai known

only from the Hyblean region of Sicily14, while another

species recorded by them, Trichorina paolae, was previously

only known from a single cave near Syracuse in Sicily. A

later molecular genetic study on Armadillidium ghardalamensis

and A.lagrecai (Lombardo & Viglianisi, 2002) showed

that in spite of their morphological similarity, these two

species were genetically well differentiated. Additionally,

genetic analysis of Sicilian and Maltese populations 

previously attributed to ‘Porcellio imbutus’ resulted that

this species is limited to Sicily while the Maltese and

Hyblean populations belong to a distinct (new) species

named Porcellio hyblaeus (Viglianisi et al., 1992).

Based on the data available to them, Caruso & Lombardo

(1982) and Caruso et al. (1987) compared the 

oniscoidean fauna (terrestrial woodlice) of the Maltese

Islands with that of Sicily, North Africa and the 

circum-Sicilian islands and concluded that the Maltese

fauna and that of all the other circum-Sicilian islands,

with the exception of Pantelleria, presented very strong

affinities with that of Sicily and not with that of North

Africa.  Three, possibly four, species found only in Sicily

and the Maltese Islands suggest a connection between

these islands and the Hyblean region of Sicily in

Quaternary (Pliocene?) times. Two species have a 

predominantly eastern Mediterranean distribution. The

new data presented by Caruso & Hili (1991) strengthen

this interpretation. 

Caruso & Hili (1991) make the very interesting point that

at least as far as the terrestrial isopods are concerned, the

Maltese Islands have a true cavernicolous fauna comprising

both troglobitic (i.e. obligate carvernicoles) and troglophilic

(i.e. frequently but not exclusively carvernicoles) species;

the former include Armadillidium ghardalamensis and

probably also Armadillidium aelleni (both endemic) as

well as Trichorina paolae, and the latter include

Trichoniscus matulici and Chaetophiloscia cellaria.

Even more interesting are the results of a recent genetic

study on the four known populations of the endemic

cave species Armadillidium aelleni (Lombardo et al.,

2002. These molecular genetic studies, confirmed also by

a morphological analysis, showed that the four populations

could be separated into two genetically, and to lesser

extent also morphologically, distinct groups, a situation

interpreted as a case of incipient speciation.

The freshwater and semiterrestrial Amphipoda (sand

fleas or beach hoppers) of the Maltese Islands have been

studied by Moore & Schembri [P] (1986) who recorded

nine species, all common Mediterranean forms.

However, re-examination of some of the specimens upon

which these identifications were based resulted that

what these authors reported as Echinogammarus ebusitanus

was not actually this species but Echinogammarus klaptoczi,

while Talorchestia deshayesii not reported by Moore &

Schembri [P] (1986) also occurs (Sandro Ruffo, personal com-

munication, 2000). Interestingly, a molecular (allozyme)

study of this latter species from a number of

Mediterranean localities, including Gozo, revealed that

the Gozitan population was the most genetically different

of all those tested (Sicily, Corsica, the Aegean) (De

Matthaeis et al., 2000).

One species of freshwater decapod occurs in the Maltese

Islands, the crab Potamon fluviatile. Capolongo & Cilia

(1990) concluded that the Maltese populations belong to

a distinct endemic subspecies that they named lanfrancoi.

Potamon fluviatile lanfrancoi is closer to Potamon

fluviatile fluviatile of Sicily and Italy than to

Potamon fluviatile algeriense of North Africa (Capologno

& Cilia, 1990).
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UNIRAMIANS

Few general works on the INSECTA of the Maltese

Islands have been published.  The most important of

these are the work by Saliba (1963) on species of 

economic importance and in which previous work on the

same subject is reviewed, the contributions by Schembri

[S], Sammut & Valletta, and Cilia (in Schembri [P] &

Sultana, 1989) on rare, threatened and endemic species,

the poplar accounts provided by Schembri [S] (1995;

1996) and the review of insects used locally for biological

control by Mifsud (1997a) 

The apterygote orders Protura, ‘Thysanura’

(Microcoryphia and Zygentoma), Diplura and Collembola

are all represented on the Maltese Islands.  Of these, the

first group named has not yet received any attention.

The Maltese ‘Thysanura’ have most recently been studied

by Mendes (1980; 1981; 1987) who recorded five species

of the order Microcoryphia, including the endemic

Charimachilis relicta melitensis closely related to

C.r.egatensis endemic to Sicily, and seven of the order

Zygentoma.  With the exception of C.r.melitensis, all are

either common Mediterranean species or are cosmopolitan

and anthropophilic15.  Pagés (1978) has recorded two

species of Diplura from the Maltese Islands; one,

Monojapyx simplex, having a western Mediterranean

and the other, Parajapyx isabellae, a Mediterranean 

distribution. The Collembola (springtails) were most

recently studied by Stach (1967) who enumerated some

30 species including seven new species described by 

himself; almost all of these are now known from Italy

and elsewhere and this work needs revision in the light

of advances in taxonomic knowledge and in the faunistics

of this group. More recently Thibaud & Christian (1989)

studied the interstitial16 Collembola from dune sand sam-

ples from Gozo and recorded eight species, including

two, Odontellina sexoculata and Mesaphorura schembrii

that up to the present are only known from the Maltese

Islands and may be endemic; both are of European affinity.

Much more work has been done on Maltese Pterygota

(‘winged insects’).  The main works on Odonata 

(dragonflies and damselflies) are those of Valletta (1949;

1957) who also reviewed previous records.  One species

of Zygoptera (damselflies) and nine of Anisoptera 

(dragonflies) have been recorded. Two anisopterans are

migratory North African species, while the only zygopteran,

Ischnura genei, has a distribution restricted to the

Maltese Islands, Sicily, Corsica, Sardinia and Capri

(Schembri [S], 1989b).  Other unrecorded species of

Odonata also occur (S. Schembri, personal communication

1989).  Only one species of Ephemeroptera (mayflies) has

been reported from the Maltese Islands: the baetid

Cloeon dipterum (Schembri [J] & Schembri [S], 1979).

Bacetti (1972) reviewed the species of Blattodea 

(cockroaches), Mantodea (praying mantises) and

Orthoptera (crickets and grasshoppers) known from the

Maltese Islands to that time and discussed their 

biogeography.  More recent works on these groups

include those of Cilia (1975), Schembri [S] (1980a,

1984a), and Schembri [S] & Ebejer (1983; 1984). To date,

seven species of Blattodea, four of Mantodea, 13 of

Orthoptera: Gryllidae (crickets), some 25 of Orthoptera:

Acrididae (grasshoppers) and related families, and 10 of

Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae (long-horned grasshoppers)

have been recorded from the Islands.  Most of these

species have a Mediterranean or wider distribution,

about five are cosmopolitan, about three are European

forms absent in North Africa, one species, the blattid

Ectobius kraussianus is known only from Sicily and the

Maltese Islands (Schembri [S], 1980a), three species are

North African, and one species, the ant-cricket

Myrmecophilus baronii was considered endemic to the

Maltese Islands (Bacetti, 1966; 1972; Schembri [S],

1984a) until it was also recorded from Pantelleria by

Bacetti et al. (1995), although this may be a very similar

species. The North African forms are the migratory locust

Schistocera gregaria, and the gryllids Acheta palmetorum,

known only from Africa, Palestine and the Maltese

Islands and which may or may not be native to the

islands (Bacetti, 1972), and Brachytripes megacephalus

which is a fossorial17 species, apart from North Africa

known also from Sicily and some circumsicilian islands.

The endemic or subendemic18 Myrmecophilus baronii is

a myrmecophilous19 cricket of clear European affinities

(Bacetti, 1966).
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Two species of termites (Isoptera), Kalotermes flavicollis

and Reticulitermes lucifugus, occur in the Maltese

Islands, both common Mediterranean forms (Lanfranco

[G], 1974).  Maltese species of Dermaptera (earwigs)

have been reviewed by Schembri [S] & Schembri [L]

(1978).  Five species occur of which three are cosmopolitan

and two have a North Mediterranean distribution. At

least two species of Embioptera (webspinners) occur but

this group has not yet been studied (S. Schembri, 

personal communication 2003).

The orders Psocoptera, Mallophaga, Anoplura (all 

different types of lice) and Thysanoptera (thrips) all occur

in the Maltese Islands but have received scant attention.

Economically important members are mentioned by

Caruana Gatto (1926), Saliba (1963) and Mifsud &

Watson (1999). Lienhard (1990; 1998) records six species

of Psocoptera (booklice), none of which are endemic or

subendemic. Only sporadic records of Mallophaga (biting

lice and bird lice) exist, all listed in Mifsud’s (2000a)

review. Three species are known, of which one,

Halipeurus pelagicus, parasitic on the Storm Petrel

(Hydrobates pelagicus), does not appear to have been

recorded from Italy to date. Savona Ventura (2002)

records three species of Anoplura (Sucking lice) of 

medical importance: the Head Louse Pediculus humanus

humanus, the Body Louse Pediculus humanus corporis

and the Crablouse Phthirus pubis. Both the Mallophaga

and the Anoplura of the Maltese Islands are incompletely

know and require much further study. The only specific

records of Thysanoptera (thrips) to date are the introduced

species Frankliniella occidentalis and Heliothrips

haemorrhoidalis (Mifsud & Watson, 1999), and Thrips

tabaci (Farrugia 1997).

A large number of species of Homoptera occur on the

Maltese Islands, which have only recently started being

systematically studied. One species of cicada (Cicadidae)

occurs, Cicada orni, a geographically widespread species.

The scale insects (Coccoidea) were originally studied by

Borg (1932) who recorded some 60 species, but these

are in need of modern taxonomic revision. Within this

superfamily, Boratynski (1969) has described a new

species of Pseudococcidae from the Maltese Islands,

which has since fallen into synonymy (Mifsud, 2000a).

Economically important whiteflies (Aleyrodoidea), 

psyllids (Psylloidea) and aphids (Aphidoidea) were treated

by Caruana Gatto (1926), Saliba (1963) and Mifsud &

Watson (1999). Knowledge of the Aleyrodoidea and the

Psylloidea of the Maltese Islands has been vastly

improved through the studies of David Mifsud, who has

recorded 13 species of Aleyrodoidea (Mifsud, 1995;

Mifsud & Palmieri, 1996; Martin et al., 2000), including

a new species, Aleurolobus teucrii, so far known only

form Sicily and Malta, and 18 species of Psylloidea

(Mifsud, 1997c; 2000a). The local Aphidoidea (aphids)

have not been systematically studied. Records are provided

by Caruana Gatto (1926), Saliba (1963), Farrugia (1997),

Mifsud (1997a) and Mifsud & Watson (1999), while Hille

Ris Lambers (1969) has described a new species from the

Maltese Islands, Protrama baronii, now known also from

southern Italy.

Tamanini (1966) reviewed previous records of

Heteroptera (true bugs) from the Maltese Islands and

reported new ones, listing 67 species in all, of which one,

the mirid Psallus varians cornutus was considered

endemic; this species was subsequently discovered in

other Mediterranean countries and islands (Schembri [S],

1993a). Later, De Lucca (1969) and Rieger (1986) reported

further species from the Maltese Islands, bringing the

total to 113. The number of recorded species of Maltese

Heteroptera was raised to 209 by Schembri [S] (1993a)

who also presented a biogeographical analysis; of the

206 species identified fully, 201 occur also in Italy. Of the

remainder, Kalama lugubris and Thaumastopus 

marginicollis pallescens are eastern Mediterranean

species for which the Maltese Islands represent the 

westernmost limit of distribution, although for the latter,

the nominal subspecies (Thaumastopus marginicollis

marginicollis) occurs also in Sicily. Other species of 

biogeographical interest are Macropterna fovicollis

(Calabria, Sicily and the Maltese Islands), Odontoscelis

signata (Sicily and the Maltese Islands), Halonabis 

sareptanus, Anoplocerus luteus and Emblethis denticollis

(Sardinia and the Maltese Islands), Berytinus montivagus

rotundatus (Sicily, Sardinia, Lampedusa and the Maltese

Islands), Caenocoris nerii (Corsica, Sicily and the Maltese
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Islands) and Byrsinus albipennis (Calabria, Sicily,

Lampedusa and the Maltese Islands). Maltese species

with a North African affinity include Reduvius villosus,

also present in Sicily, and Dicranocephalus agilis

moralese, also reported from Macaronesia, Sicily and

Italy.

The only general works on the Coleoptera (beetles) of

the Maltese Islands remain the popular account of

Caruana Gatto (1894) and the catalogue by Cameron

and Caruana Gatto  (1907). Commercially important

species have been treated by Saliba  (1963) and 

threatened, rare and endemic species by Cilia (1989).

Although Cameron & Caruana Gatto list some 600

species, many more are known to occur and it is 

estimated that the coleopteran fauna of the Maltese

islands includes more than 2000 species (Schembri [P],

1989a).  Moreover, many of the groups listed in

Cameron and Caruana Gatto's catalogue are in need of

taxonomic revision in the light of recent advances in

coleopteran systematics. In particular, the 50 or so

endemic species reported from the Maltese Islands

(Cilia, 1989) need re-evaluation.  For these reasons, it is

not possible to analyse the biogeography of the Maltese

Coleoptera as a whole.  On the other hand, a few

detailed studies have been made on particular groups.

Magrini & Schembri [S] (1997) provide an updated list of

the Carabidae (ground beetles) of the Maltese Islands,

the first since Cameron & Caruana Gatto’s catalogue;

125 species are recorded of which 37 were not included

by Cameron & Caruana Gatto (1907) and 27 species

recorded in the past were not found and seem to have

disappeared from the islands, possibly due to habitat

changes. Of interest is Cymindis suturalis which occurs

also in North Africa and Palestine, the Siculo-Maltese

endemics Cylindera trisignata siciliensis, Philochthus

escherichi subatratus, Acinopus ambiguous, and the only

strict endemism, Laemostenus picicornis melitensis, the

nominate form of which (L.p.picicornis) occurs in North

Africa and Lampedusa. Later, Mifsud & Vigna Taglianti

(1999) added a further two species to this list and

corrected a misidentification.

Aquatic beetles of the families Haliplidae, Gyrinidae and

Dytiscidae, were reviewed by Rocchi & Schembri [S]

(1992). In all 16 species (one each of Haliplidae, and

Gyrinidae, and 14 of Dytiscidae) have been recorded

from the Maltese Islands, although not all were found by

Rocchi & Schembri [S] (1992) suggesting that some 

previously recorded species may now be locally extinct. 

Cameron & Caruana Gatto (1907) listed 17 species of

Histeridae in their catalogue of Maltese beetles.  Vienna

(1983) confirmed the presence of 11 of these and added

four new records.  All except one are species having

Mediterranean or wider distributions; apart from the

Maltese Islands Saprinus strigil is known from Cyprus,

Jordan, Syria, Iraq, Lebanon, Abyssinia, Senegal, Zaire

and Mozambique.

Bordoni (1972) published a catalogue of the

Staphylinidae of the circum-Sicilian islands in which he

included all previous Maltese records of the group and

added 16 new ones.  A further 28 new records were 

subsequently added by Schembri [S] & Schembri [J]

(1982) bringing the total known species to some 172.

Bordoni (1972) also attempted a biogeographical 

analysis of the Maltese staphylinid fauna based on the

species known to him.  He found that the bulk of the

Maltese species have a Mediterranean or wider 

distribution.  Four species have a very restricted

Mediterranean distribution; one of these (Micropeplus

porcatus) being known only from the Maltese Islands,

Sicily, Corsica and Sardinia, and the other three

(Trogophloeus siculus, Scopaeus gracilis siculus, Gabius

doderoi) from the Maltese Islands, Sicily and southern

Italy.  Three other species are of North African affinity,

being known from North Africa, the Maltese Islands,

Sicily (in the case of Stenus brunnipes maximus) and also

from southern Italy (for Achenium striatum and

Achenium tenellum).  Four species are endemic to the

Maltese Islands: Trogophloeus championi, Astenus 

gattoi, Astenus walkeri and an unnamed species of

Achenium.  The first three have European affinities but

the last is apparently more closely related to North

African forms (Bordoni, 1972).
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This analysis may have to be revised, firstly because many

of the older records have not been confirmed, secondly

because of the many new records added since Bordoni's

work was published (e.g. Schembri [S] & Schembri [J],

1982 and other unpublished new records; S. Schembri,

personal communication 2003), and thirdly in the light of

modern taxonomic interpretation of certain species

(Bordoni, 1972; Schembri [S] & Schembri [J], 1982).

Poggi (1980) reviewed all previous records of beetles of

the families Pselaphidae and Scydmaenidae from the

Maltese Islands and added new records. Six pselaphids

were confirmed to occur, all species with a western

Mediterranean or wider distribution, to which Poggi

(1999) later added a new species, Amaurops mifsudi, to

date known only from the Maltese Islands; this new

species has strong affinities with the Sicilian endemics

Amaurops aubei and A.sulcatula. Three scydmaenids

have been confirmed, an unidentified species of

Stenichnus and two others, one with a Mediterranean

and wider distribution and Scydmaenus antidotus, a

species occurring in the Maltese Islands, Lampedusa,

Sicily and southern Italy (Poggi, 1980).

The Cleridae of the Maltese Islands were reviewed by

Mifsud (1997b) who listed six species, one of which is a

doubtful record; all have a wide geographical distribution.

The Dasytidae have recently been studied by Liberti &

Schembri [S] (2002) who recorded nine species including

two new to science and as far as is known endemic:

Danacea edulens and Danacea thymi; a third previously

described species, Dasytiscus melitensis also seems to be

endemic. All three endemic species are related to forms

that occur in the central Mediterranean from North

Africa to southern Italy. Danacea nigripalpis is a Siculo-

Maltese endemism.

Platia (1985) has studied the Elateridae (click beetles) of

the Maltese Islands.  He recorded six species, including

the new, possibly endemic, Ischnodes schembrii, but was

unable to confirm another species previously recorded by

Cameron & Caruana Gatto (1907). Platia did not, 

however, analyse the biogeography of the Maltese

species. Only one species of Heteroceridae occurs,

Augyles maritimus, which has a wide geographical 

distribution (Mifsud & Mascagni, 1997). Mifsud (2000b)

records four species of Languriidae (lizard beetles), all

with a more or less wide geographical distribution.

Mifsud (2001) also records a single species of the family

Eucinetidae, also with a wide geographical distribution.

Mifsud & Bíly (2002) reviewed the Bupestridae (jewel 

beetles) of the Maltese Islands and listed 17 species

including seven new records. Most species recorded have

a wide distribution, however, Anthaxia lucens lucens and

Anthaxia thalassophila thalassophila are eastern elements

while Anthaxia aprutiana is limited to southern Italy and

the Maltese Islands. The Cryptophagidae of the Maltese

Islands were studied by Otero et al. (2001) who report 12

species including a new species, Micrambe mediterranica

that apart from the Maltese Islands occurs also in Greece

and Jordan and is therefore an eastern element in the

Maltese fauna. Svec (2000) described a new species of

the family Phalacridae from Malta: Tinodemus mifsudi.

The Zopheridae were studied by Schuh & Mifsud (2000)

who recorded four species including one new to science,

Langelandia niticosta, so far known only from the

Maltese Islands but most similar to L.hypogea of Algeria.

This apparently endemic species therefore shows a North

African affinity.

The Coccinellidae (ladybird beetles) of the Maltese

Islands were studied by Schembri [S] (1993b) who

reviewed previous records and reported new ones; 34

species occur including two species introduced into the

Maltese Islands and now naturalised, one (Rodalia cardinalis)

for biological control purposes. Of biogeographical 

interest are Scymnus levaillanti, Scymnus auritus,

Exochomus nigripennis and Coccinella undecimpunctata

arabica that are North African elements, and Scymnus

damryi and Nephus schatzmayry that have a restricted

Mediterranean distribution (Corsica and Sardinia for the

former and southern Italy and Sicily for the latter). Bellés

& Mifsud (2000) have studied the Ptinidae (spider 

beetles) of the Maltese Islands and record 10 species,

seven of which were already listed in Cameron &

Caruana Gatto’s (1907) catalogue. Ptinus affinis seems to

be a Siculo-Maltese endemism and Microptinus melitensis

is endemic to the Maltese Islands.
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Cameron & Caruana Gatto (1907) recorded five species

of Oedemeridae from the Maltese Islands and Bologna

(1984) added a new record.  Although no studies on this

group as a whole have been made, Bologna (1979) has

confirmed the validity of Stenostoma melitense, a species

now known to be endemic to the Maltese Islands and

closely related to S.cossyrense of Pantelleria, previously

considered conspecific with the Maltese form (Bologna,

1995). Nardi & Mifsud (2000) added a new record to the

Aderidae of the Maltese Islands, bringing the total

known species to two; both species have a widespread

geographical distribution.

The Anthicidae of the Maltese Islands have been

reviewed by Schembri [S] (1991) who recorded 18

species. Of these, three are cosmopolitan or nearly so, 11

have a Mediterranean or more widespread distribution,

three have a restricted distribution and one is endemic.

The species with a restricted distribution are Tenuicomus

velox velox, known only from Sicily and the Calabrian

and Basilicata regions of Italy, Anthicus opaculus, known

from the Canary Islands, North Africa and Spain, and

Cyclodinus debilis which occurs in North Africa, Arabia

and Ethiopia but which in Europe is known only from the

island of Pantelleria and the Maltese Islands. Bucciarelli

(1980) confirmed the status of Aulocoderus melitensis

described as endemic to the Maltese Islands.

The Meloidae (oil beetles) of the Maltese Islands have

been reviewed by Bologna (1985), Schembri [S] (1989a)

and most recently by Bologna (1995). Eight species occur,

all of which are also found in Sicily. Cabalia segetum is a

predominantly African species that apart from the

Maltese Islands occurs also in Sicily. Bologna (1985) 

interpreted the occurrence of Mylabris fabricii on the

islands as suggesting a Quaternary connection between

the Maltese Islands and Sicily.  No endemic species are

apparently present; the Apalus bimaculatus caruanae

reported by various authors (see Cilia, 1989) is of doubtful

taxonomic status.

Focarile (1969) has reviewed previous records of beetles

of the family Tenebrionidae (darkling beetles) from the

Maltese Islands, added new records, and analysed their

biogeography. Excluding some five cosmopolitan and

anthropophilic forms, the bulk of the 33 recorded species

have a Mediterranean distribution. Canzoneri (1979)

described a new endemic species, Stenosis schembrii,

close to Stenosis intermedia, a southern European form,

and recorded Opatrum emarginatum, a North African

species that he considered a recent anthropic introduction.

Grimm (1986) added another five species to the Maltese

list including one predominantly western Mediterranean

species, Phtora (=Cataphronetis) crenata and one with a

very restricted distribution: Stenosis freyi, known from

the Maltese Islands, a single record from southern Sicily

and Lipari Island. More recently, Mifsud & Scupola (1998)

again reviewed and re-evaluated all previous records of

tenebrionids from the Maltese Islands and added new

ones; these authors enumerate 56 validated records from

the islands, to which Mifsud (1999) later added another

two species, bringing the total to 58. Mifsud & Scupola

(1998) also provided a biogeographic analysis of the

Maltese tenebrionid fauna; of the 56 species listed by

these authors, seven are cosmopolitan, 17 have a wide

distribution (as do the two additional species recorded by

Mifsud, 1999), and 26 species have a Mediterranean 

distribution. The remaining six species are endemic or

probably endemic but in need of taxonomic evaluation;

to these Mifsud & Scupola (1998) add another three

species which also occur in Sicily but which may result to

be endemic species or subspecies. If the figure of nine

endemic taxa is accepted, this constitutes a remarkable

15.5% of the total valid tenebrionid species known from

the Maltese Islands. All the endemic or supposedly

endemic species show affinities with Sicilian or European

forms. Apart from the endemics, other species are of 

biogeographical interest: at least three species (Dichillus

pertusus, Trachyderma lima and Cnemeplatia atropos)

have a predominantly eastern Mediterranean distribution;

Opatrum emarginatum is a North African species that,

contrary to the opinion of Canzoneri (1979), Mifsud &

Scupola (1998) consider as probably native; while two

species (Clitobius ovatus and Cossyphus moniliferus) have

a predominantly Afro-Tropical distribution. Five of these

are widely distributed in the Mediterranean and adjacent

regions, three have a wider Palaearctic distribution,  and

only one species, the Calabro-Sicilian-Maltese endemic
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Protaetia cuprea incerta, has a limited distribution.

Although no analysis of the Maltese Scarabaeidae

(scarab beetles) as a whole has yet been attempted,

Sabatinelli & Schembri [S] (1990) have studied those

species which visit flowers, identifying nine species.

Beetles of the family Cerambycidae (long-horn beetles)

from the Maltese Islands have been studied by Schembri

[S] & Sama (1986) and more recently by Mifsud & Booth

(1997) and Mifsud (2002). The latter includes 29 species

in his catalogue and rejects some other previously recorded

species as unconfirmed. With two exceptions, all the

species have a Mediterranean or wider distribution, with

some being cosmopolitan or almost so, due to anthro-

pogenic introductions. The two exceptions are Cerambyx

carinatus which has an eastern Mediterranean distribution

and Parmena sp., originally ascribed to Parmena pubescens

by Schembri [S] & Sama (1986) but which may represent

a new taxon (Mifsud, 2002). It is interesting to note that

five species, including Cerambyx carinatus, are most 

likely introductions that have become naturalised in the

Maltese Islands.

Surprisingly, given their diversity and the economic

importance of some species, the Chrysomelidae (leaf

beetles) of the Maltese Islands have not received specific

attention since the catalogue by Cameron & Caruana

Gatto (1907). The supposedly endemic species Timarcha

melitensis was shown by Jolivet (1996) to probably 

originate from Portugal.

In their catalogue, Cameron & Caruana Gatto (1907)

listed 100 species of beetles of the family Curculionidae

(weevils) from the Maltese Islands.  To this list were

added two other species described after 1907 (see

Magnano & Osella, 1972).  Magnano & Osella (1972)

examined these records and, after removing five doubtful

species from the Maltese list, have presented a 

biogeographical analysis. Eighty-seven species have a

Mediterranean or wider distribution. The remaining 10

have a restricted distribution: two species (Brachycerus

albidentatus, Larinus vittatus) have a Tyrrhenian distribution

while another (Ceutorhynchus melitensis) is known from

the Maltese Islands, Sicily and southern Italy but has close

affinities with the European Ceutorhynchus grenieri.

Four species have a predominantly North African 

distribution, three of these (Otiorhynchus affaber, Apion

robusticorne, Hypera jucunda) are known from North

Africa and the Maltese Islands and Sicily, and the other

(Sitona ocellatus) from North Africa and the Maltese

Islands.  Two species have a disjunct distribution:

Otiorhynchus moriger is known from the Maltese Islands

and Corfu, and Thylacites beloni from the Maltese

Islands, western Sicily and Crete.  These have been 

interpreted by Magnano & Osella (1972) as relict species.

Another species of biogeographical interest is

Trachyphloeus melitensis, described by Borovec & Osella

(1993) and know only from Lampedusa and Malta. A 

relatively large number of species are endemic (6.8% of

the validated species). Magnano & Osella (1972) considered

two species as endemic: Chiloneus deluccai, an insular

form of Chiloneus meridionalis, a species known from

Sicily, Ustica and the Egadian Islands; and

Desbrochersella hoffmanni described by González (1970)

and closely related to Desbrochersella championi known

only from Sicily. Later, Magnano (1992; 1993) added

another two species: Otiorhynchus schembrii and

Otiorhynchus ovatulus. More recently, (Magnano &

Mifsud (1998) described Alaocyba melitensis, which is

most closely related to A.lampedusae and in turn, both

are related to A.theryi found in Tunisia and Algeria This is

an important discovery as it concerns one of the few local

endemics with African rather than European affinities.

More recently still, Magnano & Mifsud (2001) described

another two new species, so far known only from the

Maltese Islands: Torneuma strictum and Torneuma maltense,

both related to T.siculum known from Sicily and Sardinia.

Only one member of the order Strepsiptera (stylopids) is

known from the Maltese Islands, Mengenilla chobauti, a

species widely distributed in the Mediterranean area

(Schembri [S], 1984b).

Valletta (1984) recorded species of Neuroptera

Myrmeleontidae (antlions) collected or reported from the

Maltese Islands by himself and previous workers and listed

seven species; he also reported five species of Neuroptera

Chrysopidae (lacewings) (Valletta, 1985).
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Subsequently, Duelli (1994) recorded 12 species, seven of

them new records. Plant & Schembri [S] (1996) reviewed

all the neuropteroid insects of the Maltese Islands, con-

firming 29 species belonging to four families, including

their own new records, with another two not definitely

identified.The order Trichoptera (caddisflies) was only

recorded from the Maltese Islands relatively recently

(Schembri, [S], 1981; Schembri [S] & Johnson, 1987).

Two species occur: Tinodes maclachlani, which is also

known from Britain, Central Europe, Corsica, Italy and

Sicily, and Mesophylax aspersus, a species with a

vast distribution.

There exists a large literature on the Lepidoptera (moths

and butterflies) of the Maltese Islands.  Notable sum-

maries of this group include the contributions of Valletta

(1972, 1973) on Rhopalocera (butterflies) and on

Heterocera  (moths), respectively; of Schembri [S] (1977)

and Sammut (1982) on Rhopalocera; and of Sammut

(1983) on Geometridae (geometrid moths).  Sammut

(1984) has produced a systematic and synonymic cata-

logue of the Maltese Lepidoptera in which he has updat-

ed nomenclature, corrected previous misidentifications,

added new records and compiled a bibliography of liter-

ature on the Maltese lepidopteran fauna.  Endemic

and/or threatened species have been treated by Sammut

& Valletta (1989), while Sammut (1989) has discussed

aspects of the history of lepidopterological studies on the

Maltese Islands, and the Maltese lepidopteran fauna, in

general. A recent comprehensive compilation is that of

Sammut (2000); according to this, 599 species have been

recorded from the Maltese Islands.

In spite of the impressive literature on this group, only

two authors (De Lucca, 1965; Sammut, 1989) have

attempted biogeographical analyses.  According to De

Lucca, the character of the Maltese lepidopteran fauna is

typically southern European, however, some 7% of the

local species are found in North Africa but not in Sicily

and the rest of Europe.  Sammut (1989) analysed the bio-

geographical relationships of the Maltese Noctuidae

(noctuid moths).  Of the 128 species that occur, 90.6%

have a wide distribution, 7.8% (10 species) have a

restricted distribution (known from the Maltese Islands

and one or two other countries only) and only 1.6% (2

species) are endemic to the Maltese Islands. The endem-

ic Lepidoptera of the Maltese Islands have most recently

been revised by Sammut (1984; 1989) and Sammut &

Valletta (1989).  All endemics that are well characterized

taxonomically appear most closely related to southern

European species with the exception of Antitinea deluc-

cae which is most closely related to Tinea palastinella of

the Middle East (De Lucca, 1965). Excluding species

whose taxonomic status is debatable, Karsholt &

Razowski (1996) consider 15 species as endemic, which

is about 2.5% of the species recorded. However, addi-

tional new (and presumably endemic) species have been

described since (see Mifsud, 2000a), so the percent

endemism in the group may be slightly higher. There is

need for a detailed taxonomic analysis of the many

‘endemic’ species, subspecies and ‘forms’ that have been

described from the Maltese Islands, followed by a mod-

ern biogeographical analysis.

The Diptera (true flies) of the Maltese Islands had

received scant attention until recently, when two Maltese

entomologists, Martin Ebejer and Paul Gatt took up

study of this group.  Newstead (1912) dealt with the

medically important sandflies of the genus Phlebotomus

(recently, interest in these flies of medical and veterinary

importance has resumed – see Mifsud, 2000a and

Savona Ventura, 2002); Caruana Gatto (1926) listed the

gall-forming species known to him; Saliba (1963)

reviewed the economically important species; Spencer

(1972) gave a list of the Agromyzidae collected by him,

and described a new species, Liriomyza melitensis;

Chvála (1980) described a new species of acrocerid fly,

Ogcodes schembrii, related to Ogcodes gibbosus which

is widespread in Europe; Schembri [S] (1985a) studied

the Maltese Hippoboscidae; Canzoneri (1985) reviewed

records of Ephydridae from the Maltese Islands; and

Ebejer (1988a; 1988b) studied the Maltese Bombyliidae

and Syrphidae.  Other scattered records of individual

species also exist. All known records of Diptera from the

Maltese Islands up to ca 1990 were listed in a catalogue

of the Maltese Diptera by Schembri [S] et al. (1991),

which includes well over a hundred new records and

enumerates 203 species belonging to 27 families.
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Ebejer (1995b) updated this list for the larger flies by 

correcting nomenclature and adding a number of new

records. Subsequent to this a large number of works

have appeared that have treated individual groups of

flies in detail and added numerous new records as well

as new species. The more important of these are

reviewed below. Maltese Culicidae (mosquitoes) were

studied by Gatt (1996) who also reviewed previous

records. Nine species are considered valid for the islands;

all have a wide geographical distribution. Ebejer (2000)

records the family Dixidae from the Maltese Islands for

the first time, listing three species, all with a wide 

distribution. The fungus gnats (families Bolitophilidae,

Keroplatidae and Myceophilidae) of the Maltese Islands

were studied by Chandler & Gatt (2000), who reported 30

species including two new and (to date) endemic species:

Macrocera buskettina (Keroplatidae), with eastern

Mediterranean affinities, and Docosia melita

(Mycetophilidae).

Ebejer (1988a; 1995b) recorded 27 species of

Bombylidae (beeflies) from the Maltese Islands. The same

author recorded 46 species of Syrphidae (hoverflies)

(Ebejer, 1988b; 1995b). None of the species are endemic.

Plant (1995) described two new species of Chersodroma

(family Hybotidae) from Malta. Gatt (2000) studied the

Sphaeroceridae of the Maltese Islands and recorded 41

species, all but three, new records; Phthitia sicana

appears to be a Siculo-Maltese endemism while

Thoracochaeta mediterranea is known only from

Pantelleria and Malta. Ebejer (1995a) records one species

of Sciomyzidae, widespread in the Mediterranean. He

also records seven species of Chyromyidae of which four

were new to science and were all collected from the

Ghadira bird sanctuary (Ebejer 1993). Ebejer (1998a)

later synonymised two of these but the other two

(Aphaniosoma clitellatum and A.spatulatum) are still only

known from Malta; in this same work, Ebejer also added

new records, including of a new species Aphaniosoma

nigrum, known only form Tunisia and Malta.

Subsequently, Ebejer (1998b) described a second species

of this family also known only from Tunisia and Malta:

Gymnochiromyia fallax. Ebejer (2001) recorded three

families of flies - Camillidae, Campichoetidae and

Drosophilidae - for the Maltese Islands for the first time

and reported two species of the first, one of the second

and 13 of the third; all species have a wide distribution.

Munari & Ebejer (2000) recorded the family Tethinidae

from the Maltese Islands for the first time and listed

seven species, all common Mediterranean forms with the

exception of a new species they named Tethina melitensis,

collected from sandy coastal areas. Ebejer & Gatt (1999)

studied the Maltese species of Fannidae and Muscidae

and recorded eight species of the former and 36 species

of the latter; all species have a wide geographical distribution.

A number of general works on Maltese Hymenoptera

(ants, bees and wasps) have been published. The most

important of these are the lists of Alfken (1929), Valletta

(1971; 1978) and Erlandsson (1974; 1979; 1984).  None

of these authors has attempted a biogeographical analysis

of the hymenopteran fauna, however. Gall-forming

species were listed by Caruana Gatto (1926) while Saliba

(1963) listed species of economic importance.

Some individual groups of Hymenoptera have been studied

in detail. The best known of these are the ants

(Formicidae), the subject of comprehensive works by

Baroni Urbani (1968a; 1968b) and Schembri [S] &

Collingwood (1981; 1995).  A total of 50 species have

been recorded, the bulk of which have Mediterranean or

wider distributions and a few of which are recent

anthropic introductions.  One species, Messor caducus,

has a disjunct distribution, being known only from the

Maltese Islands, Rhodes and Turkey. Another two species,

Aphaenogaster inermis and Stenamma petiolatum, have a

very restricted Mediterranean distribution, the former

being known from the Maltese Islands and southern Italy,

and the latter from the Maltese Islands and a few Italian

sites. Seven species have North African affinity:

Cardiocondyla nigra, Acantholepis frauenfeldi velox and

Diplorhoptrum santschii are known from Tunisia and the

Maltese Islands; an as yet unidentified species of

Themnothorax is probably also a North African species;

Aphaenogaster sicula is a Siculo-Maltese endemism,

probably most closely related to African species; Pheidole

teneriffana is known from the Canary Islands, North

Africa, the Maltese Islands, Asia Minor, Ethiopia and Syria;
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while Camponotus barbaricus, a widely distributed

species in North Africa, is in Europe known only from the

Maltese Islands, Sicily and southern Spain. Recently, 

further, as yet unrecorded species of African affinity have

been discovered in the Maltese Islands (S. Schembri, 

personal communication 1989).  Two ants are endemic

to the Maltese Islands: Strongylognathus insularis and

Leptothorax splendiceps, which is closely related to the

Sicilian L.laestrygon.

Schembri [S] (1983) reviewed previous records of

Mutillidae (velvet ants) from the Maltese Islands, corrected

various misidentifications and added new records.

Subsequently, Petersen (1988) made various corrections

to the Maltese list of these hymenopterans as a result of

his re-interpretation of some species. Fifteen species

occur in the Maltese Islands, the bulk of which have a

South European, Mediterranean or wider distribution.

Three species are of particular biogeographical interest:

Mutilla barbara is a North African species in Europe

occurring only in the Maltese Islands; Stenomutilla hottentotta

is also a North African species, which in Europe occurs

only in the Maltese Islands and Sicily; the new species of

Smicromryme reported by Schembri [S] (1983) shows

strong affinities with North African species.

Lists of the Pompilidae (spider-hunting wasps) of the

Maltese Islands were presented by Wahis (1997; 1998);

29 species are recorded of which three, Agenioideus

arenicolus, Agenioideus seminiger and Tachyagetes cin-

erascens, are North African species that do not occur on

the European mainland.

Strumia (1981) recorded 15 species of Chrysididae (jewel

wasps) from the Maltese Islands and listed previous

records. The Maltese chrysidid fauna is very similar to

that of Sicily and shows strong European affinities; one

species, Hedichrydium dismorphum, however, was 

previously known only from Algeria.  Schembri [S]

(1991a) also reviewed previous records of Sphecidae

(digger wasps) from the Maltese Islands and recorded

new species; he did not, however, attempt a 

biogeographical analysis.

Records of Apoidea (bees) from the Maltese Islands and

reviews of previous literature on the group have been

published by Schembri [S] (1982) and Van Der Zanden

(1983).  Schembri [S] (1980b, 1985b) has similarly treated

the Vespoidea (wasps). These authors do not however

analyse the biogeography of either group, although

Schembri (1985b) records Ancistrocerus biphaleratus

tripolitanus previously known only from Cyrenaica. More

recently, Sheppard et al. (1997) have described the honey

bee of the Maltese Islands as an endemic subspecies,

Apis mellifera ruttneri, which, on the basis of morpho-

logical, molecular and behavioural data, is closer to the

North African subspecies A.m.intermissa than to

European subspecies, a situation also found in the

Sicilian subspecies A.m.sicula.

A special study of parasitoid, parasitic and hyperparasitic

Hymenoptera has been made by David Mifsud and his

co-workers, who record some 40 species distributed in

eight families (Mifsud et al., 1995; Mifsud, 1997a;

1997c; see also Mifsud 2000a). It is interesting to note

that a number of species were introduced accidentally

with their host while others were deliberately introduced

as part of biological control programmes.

Schembri [S] (1992) provided a preliminary list of the

Ichneumonidae (ichneumons) of the Maltese Islands, a

group that was hardly studied previously; 24 species are

recorded all with a relatively wide geographical distribution,

except for a species that is close to members of

Diadegma, but which does not quite fit in this genus.

No specific works on the Siphonaptera (fleas) of the

Maltese Islands have been published, however, material

from Malta appears in a number of general works on

fleas, as well as in medical reports (see Mifsud, 2000a;

Savona Ventura 2002). Some nine species have been

recorded (Mifsud, 2000a) of which the most interesting

is a new subspecies (vogeli) of the flea Leptopsylla algira

from a laboratory colony of the Sicilian Shrew (Crocidura

sicula calypso) founded from specimens originating from

the island of Gozo (Beaucournu, 1990). Leptopsylla algira,

of which nine subspecies are now known, has an overall

circum-Mediterranean distribution.
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Enghoff & Schembri [P] (1989) have reviewed previous

work on the Diplopoda (millipedes) of the Maltese

Islands, added new records and discussed the biogeography

of the group. Fourteen species occur of which one is 

cosmopolitan and another, Glomeris distichella, is a

Siculo-Maltese endemism.  There are no species of North

African affinity but four species constitute clear eastern

(Greek/Balkan) elements in the Maltese fauna.  Of these,

Stosatea minima is known only from the Maltese Islands

and Greece, and Polydesmus mediterraneus is known

from the Maltese Islands, Greece, Bulgaria, Yugoslavia

and Turkey. More recently, Jeekel (2000) published a list

of six species, all previously recorded, mainly to discuss

and update the nomenclature. Reassessment of a polyxenid

reported as Polyxenus lapidicola by Enghoff & Schembri

[P] (1989) has shown that this is referable to Polyxenus

macedonicus, known from Macedonia, Southern France

and Corsica (Ebejer [K] & Schembri, 2001).

At least one species of the class Symphyla occurs in the

Maltese Islands (Schembri [P], 1984) but this group has

not been studied.  The Chilopoda (centipedes) of the

Maltese Islands have been treated by Gulia (1890) and

much later by Matic et al. (1967) who listed seven

species. A faunistic and zoogeographic study of the 

centipedes of the Maltese Islands has increased the

count to 21 species, mostly with a Mediterranean 

distribution (Marzio Zapparoli & Alessandro Minelli, 

personal communication 2003).

VERTEBRATES

The CHORDATA of the Maltese Islands have been well

studied.  There are no freshwater fish present on the

islands, however, one brackish water species, the Killifish

Aphanius fasciatus, occurs in a very limited number of

enclosed brackish water bodies (Deidun et al., 2002).

This species apparently presents phenotypic differences

from mainland populations (Darmanin, 1979) and different

ecotypes may exist in different localities within the

islands (Zammit & Van Es 1980).

The reptiles and amphibians of the Maltese Islands have

been reviewed by Lanza (1972) and most recently by

Baldacchino & Schembri [P] (2002).  The only member of

the Amphibia is the frog Discoglossus pictus pictus. As

currently recognized, this is a Siculo-Maltese race of a

predominantly Northwest African species (see Lanza et

al., 1986 for a review and references).  The Reptilia are

represented by one skink, one chameleon, two geckoes,

one lacertid lizard and four snakes.  In addition, marine

turtles occur in Maltese waters (Caretta caretta, very

occasionally Demochelys coriacea and even more rarely,

Chelonia mydas) but no longer breed on the islands (see

Gramentz, 1989 and references therein); a number of

other chelonians are imported as pets.

The chameleon (Chamaeleo chamaeleon) is not a native

species but was imported into the islands from North

Africa round 1880 and has since become naturalized.

The skink, Chalcides ocellatus, occurs as a subspecies

(tiligugu) which apart from the Maltese Islands is known

from Algeria, Tunisia, Sardinia, Sicily and several minor

islands.  The snake Coluber algirus is a Northwest African

species for which the Maltese Islands are the only

European station.  Another snake, Elaphe situla occurs as

a subspecies (leopardina) whose area of distribution is

essentially eastern Mediterranean (Balkan) and in the

central Mediterranean occurs only in the Maltese Islands,

southern Sicily and southern Italy. A third snake,

Telescopus fallax fallax is similarly an eastern

Mediterranean (Balkan) species whose only central

Mediterranean station is the Maltese Islands.  It has often

been hypothesized that Coluber algirus and Telescopus

fallax were introduced into the islands passively, although

Lanza (1973) has argued for active diffusion into the

islands from North Africa for the former and via Sicily,

from where it then became extinct, for the latter. The

Maltese lacertid, Podarcis  filfolensis is a  species  endemic

to  the  Maltese Islands and the Pelagian Islands of Linosa

and Lampione. Four races have been named from the

various islands of the Maltese group and one race from

the Pelagian Islands. According to the immunological

data of Lanza & Cei (1977) Podarcis filfolensis is closely

related to Podarcis wagleriana, a species endemic to

Sicily, however, according to the genetic investigations of

Capula et al. (1988) Podarcis filfolensis is more closely

related to Podarcis sicula, a predominantly southern
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European species, and possibly to Podarcis melisellensis,

a species of the east Adriatic coast, while more recent

molecular genetic work (Capula, 1994) has confirmed a

closer relation to Podarcis sicula but not to Podarcis

wagleriana.

There is a very extensive literature on the birds (Aves) of

the Maltese Islands.  Bannerman & Vella Gaffiero (1976),

Sultana & Gauci (1982) and Sultana (2001) have provided

reviews.  All these authors have evaluated previous

records and added new ones to the Maltese list and

include extensive bibliographies.  Of the 379 species

recorded, some 18 are resident, five are summer visitors,

52 are winter visitors, 112 are more or less regular

migrants and the remainder are irregular migrants or

vagrants.  Of the locally breeding species, two are of 

biogeographical interest: Puffinus yelkouan is an eastern

Mediterranean species for which the Maltese Islands are

the westernmost limit of distribution; the local sparrow,

previously referred to as Passer hispaniolensis maltae is

now known to belong to a hybrid population between

Passer hispaniolensis hispaniolensis and Passer domesticus

italie which is found south of Rome, in Sicily and in the

Maltese Islands (Sultana & Gauci, 1982).

Excluding domestic species, some 19 species of terrestrial

Mammalia (mammals) have been recorded from the

Maltese Islands.  Lanfranco [G] (1969) has summarized

the information available at the time and gives a bibliography;

Lanfranco [G] & Schembri [P] (1989) listed the rare and/or

threatened species, while a recent review is provided by

Baldacchino & Schembri [P] (2002). Apart from bats,

most species of mammals currently occurring in the

Maltese Islands were introduced into the islands following

colonization by humans. According to Storch (1970)

Apodemus sylvaticus and Rattus rattus were introduced

during the Bronze Age while Rattus norvegicus, Mus

musculus and Atelerix algirus were introduced more

recently.  Humans also introduced cattle, goats, sheep,

pigs and the domestic cat very early following colonization

of the islands (Boessneck & Küver, 1970) and later horses

and donkeys. These species are therefore of little 

biogeographical interest. More important from this point of

view are the Soricidae (shrews) and the Chiroptera (bats).

A species of shrew, equated with the extinct Pleistocene

Crocidura esuae of Sicily by Kotsakis (1986), predated

human occupation of the islands.  Two living species cur-

rently occur, Suncus etruscus, and a species of Crocidura

that morphological, karyological and molecular genetic

data have shown to be Crocidura sicula, a Sicilian species

(Vogel et al., 1989; 1990a; 1990b; Maddalena & Vogel,

1990). The present day Sicilian and Maltese 

populations of this species evolved from the Pleistocene

Crocidura esuae and the only real difference between the

two is reduction in size (Hutterer, 1990). Crocidura

sicula is a Siculo-Maltese endemism and one of the few

survivors of the Pleistocene fauna of the region (Vogel et

al. 1990a, 1990b). The Maltese population has been

named as the subspecies calypso (Hutterer, 1991).

Hutterer (1991) is of the opinion that Crocidura sicula is

more closely related to North African forms.

Although some 10 species of bats have been recorded

from the Maltese Islands (Lanfranco [G], 1969; Borg et

al., 1997), only five are at all common, the remainder

being either occasional migrants or vagrants. Of the 

resident species, the local race of Myotis blythi is of 

particular interest, as it appears to be intermediate

between the two sibling species Myotis blythi and Myotis

myotis, and has been referred to as Myotis blythi 

oxygnathus (Toschi & Lanza, 1959; Lanfranco [G], 1969).

This race was later named punicus by Felten et al. (1977)

who interpret it as occurring in Corsica, Sardinia, the

Maltese Islands and parts of Tunisia.  On the other hand

Strelkov (1972) considers the local race as omari, present

also in Sardinia, Crete, and the Near and Middle East.

Arlettaz et al. (1997) have investigated the zoogeography

of Myotis blythi and Myotis myotis, paying particular

attention to the marginal populations of Mediterranean

islands and analysing morphology, genetics and ecology.

These authors show that North Africa, Corsica and

Sardinia are inhabited by a monospecific population of

Myotis myotis, and, in contrast to all other recently studies,

these authors have attributed the Maltese population to

this entity, mostly on ecological grounds. The question of

what exactly is the Myotis of the Maltese Islands is there

fore still controversial and open.
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DISCUSSION AND SYNTHESIS

Reviewing the information presented above, a number of

general points about the non-marine terrestrial fauna of

the Maltese Islands can be made. The first is that, 

perhaps surprisingly given the size and limited range of

habitats present on the islands, the long human 

occupancy and the very large human population,

nonetheless the Maltese Islands have a diverse terrestrial

and aquatic fauna that includes representatives of most

animal groups known to occur in the central

Mediterranean region. Very few major groups are 

completely absent from the islands, and in the main,

these are those associated with abundant freshwater

which is arguably the least common habitat type on the

islands. Examples of such ‘missing’ groups include fresh-

water sponges (Porifera), stoneflies (Insecta: Plecoptera),

alderflies (Insecta: Megaloptera), freshwater fish

(Chordata: Osteichthyes) and salamanders (Amphibia:

Caudata). For the same reason, it is hardly surprising that

some of the rarest groups of those that do occur are also

associated with freshwater. Examples include leeches

(Annelida: Hirudinea) where only one amphibious species

occurs in a single locality (Schembri [P], 1989), caddisflies

(Insecta: Trichoptera) where only two species, collected

perhaps once or twice each are known (Schembri [S],

1981; Schembri [S] & Johnson, 1987), and the freshwater

crab (Crustacea: Decapoda), with very few isolated 

populations (Schembri [P], 1989b; Capolongo & Cilia,

1990). On the other hand, there are also a few groups

that are not aquatic but which are nonetheless missing

from the Maltese Islands, even though they occur in

nearby islands, including the Pelagian Islands, which

geologically and ecologically are part of the Maltese

group. Examples include stick insects (Insecta:

Phasmatodea) and sun scorpions (Arachnida Solifugae).

There does not seem to be any simple explanation for this.

Compared to that of Sicily, the largest island in the

Central Mediterranean, the species richness of the

Maltese Islands is overall lower, and in many cases, much

lower. This is to be expected given the much smaller size

and the more limited range of habitats in the Maltese

Islands. In particular, the lack of mountains in the Maltese

Islands results in the absence of rain shadow effects,

which, together with the desiccated topography give the

multiplicity of habitats and microclimates associated with

elevated ground, such as is found in Sicily. However,

when compared to circum-Sicilian islands of similar size,

the Maltese fauna is as, or more, diverse. Such comparisons

must be treated with caution however, as not all 

circum-Sicilian islands have been as well investigated 

faunistically as the Maltese Islands; absence or reduced

representation of a particular taxon on one island as

compared to other islands in the region may equally

reflect lack of study of the taxon as much as a real difference

between the islands. This of course works both ways.

Thus, at present, the Maltese Islands appear to have a

very limited fauna for some groups compared to the

other islands of the Sicilian Channel (for example: mites

and ticks - Arachnida: Acari) simply because these groups

have not yet been studied much locally, which brings us

to the next point.

In spite of the impressive amount of work that has been

carried out on the Maltese fauna to date, there are

whole groups that have not been studied at all and many

others that, although having received some attention,

are still not well know. Even a cursory perusal of the

information presented above will show that we know

next to nothing about freshwater flatworms

(Platyhelminthes: Turbellaria), rotifers (Rotifera), water-

bears (Tardigrada), mites and ticks (Arachnida: Acari),

and the lower myriapods (Pauropoda, Symphyla), to

name but a few. Even those groups that have been well

studied, such as the larger beetles (Insecta: Coleoptera)

and the butterflies and moths (Insecta: Lepidoptera) still

provide ample scope for further work. It is particularly

important to assess the real taxonomic identity of the

species reported as present on the islands, especially

where particular island ‘races’ are involved, especially if

the original designations were made a long time ago,

before modern ideas of what constitutes biological

species, and modern taxonomic methods, became widespread.

Two very ‘popular’ groups, the terrestrial snails (Mollusca:

Gastropoda) and the butterflies and moths (Insecta:

Lepidoptera) are particularly good examples in this

regard.
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Both have received a great deal of attention from 

taxonomists, amateur naturalists and collectors and

many tens of species, subspecies, ‘varieties’ and ‘forms’

have been described and named, sometimes on the 

flimsiest of characters. In some cases, such distinctions

are justified and have actually led to the recognition of

distinct genetic units at specific and subspecific levels. A

good example is the recent recognition of what was 

previously regarded as a local variety of the continental

Spurge Hawkmoth Hyles euphorbiae as a distinct

endemic species, now called Hyles sammuti (Danner et

al., 1998). In other cases, some of these ‘taxa’ have not

stood up to modern scrutiny and have been shown to be

variants of different types but not distinct genetic 

entities; as examples of this may be cited the numerous

‘forms’ and ‘varieties’ of what is now considered to be a

single very variable species Trochoidea spratti (Giusti et

al., 1995). 

The application of molecular genetic techniques of 

taxonomic analysis has had a great impact on previously

intractable problems of local taxonomy and has revealed

some surprises. Some of these have been discussed

above, including: the case of the endemic door snails

(Clausiliidae) of the genera Lampedusa and Muticaria

and of the endemic top snail (Hygromiidae) Trochoidea

spratti, the scorpion Euscorpius sicanus, the endemic

cave-dwelling woodlouse Armadillidium ghardalamensis,

the endemic Maltese subspecies of the honey bee Apis

mellifera ruttneri, and the identity of the Maltese 

populations of the white-toothed shrew, now regarded

as an endemic subspecies Crocidura sicula calypso.

Unexpected results include the apparent existence of two

distinct ‘types’, interpreted as incipient species, in the

endemic cave-dwelling woodlouse Armadillidium aelleni

and the genetically distinct population of the sandhopper

(Crustacea: Amphipoda) Talorchestia deshayesii on Gozo.

Such molecular genetic studies are still in their infancy

locally and as they are more widely applied, further 

interesting results are expected. For example, we still do

not know just how genetically distinct are local 

populations of the Killifish Aphanius fasciatus or of the

Mediterranean Freshwater crab Potamon fluviatile

lanfrancoi; what is the relationship between the various

‘subspecies’ of the Maltese Wall Lizard Podarcis filfolensis

that have been formally or informally described; what is

the specific identity of the local Mouse-eared Bat Myotis

(?) blythi; if the subterranean ant-associating cricket

Myrmecophilus baronii of the Maltese Islands and of

Pantelleria are the same or distinct species; if recognition

of the local Swallowtail Butterfly as a distinct subspecies

Papilio machaon melitensis is justified? - and many more.

Some of these problems are currently being investigated

by my collaborators and myself or by others, but many

await attention.

One application of faunistic data of the type reviewed in

the present work is to analyse the biogeography of a

region - in the specific case of the Maltese Islands, to ask

such questions as: What are the affinities of the Maltese

fauna? Where did the species currently present come

from originally? How and when did they get here? How

did the various endemic forms arise and did the same

mechanisms operate in each case? How is the faunistic

composition of the Maltese Islands changing? 

The scientific value of any hypotheses on island 

biogeography advanced on the basis of comparisons of

species presence/absence data between different regions

depends in great part on sound taxonomic knowledge.

In working out the biogeographical relationships of a

locality, the occurrence and affinities of species with

restricted or disjunct distributions, and of endemic

species, are particularly important. It is imperative to

study the relationship of such species occurring on the

Maltese Islands to postulated conspecifics or ancestors

occurring elsewhere. In spite of the advances made,

there is still a lot of confusion as to which species actually

occur and to the taxonomic status of several Maltese

endemic taxa. There are two main reasons for this: firstly,

many works, especially older ones, are based entirely on

classical morphological criteria, sometimes rather 

superficial or plastic ones.  Secondly, very little is known

about the fauna of some of the surrounding islands and

particularly of North Africa and many new taxa have

been instituted with very little justification. In some cases,

this problem is compounded by loss of type material.
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There is also a problem with taxa that have been 

instituted on the basis of a few specimens, occasionally

even just a single individual. For these, the range of 

variation is not known; when a larger series is eventually

studied, the type specimen may turn out to be just one,

perhaps extreme, form of a very variable species with no

clear boundaries between the different variants. Such is

the case with the endemic Spratt’s Top-snail Trochoidea

spratti, already discussed. An additional problem arises

with species that come from specialised habitats that are

difficult to sample and little studied. Thus a number of

minute subterranean beetles from soil and litter samples

have been described as new to science in recent years

and to date are only known from the Maltese Islands; it

would not be surprising if when equivalent habitats are

sampled in adjacent islands and lands, these species are

found to be more widespread than thought at present.

Obviously, biogeographical correlations based on 

erroneous assumptions of affinity, endemicity and 

disjunct distributions lead to incorrect results. Further

below I discuss one hypothesis of Maltese biogeography

that was based on taxonomic information now known to

be incorrect. Given the still rather patchy knowledge of

the faunistics of the Maltese Islands, no grand synthesis

of the islands’ biogeography is yet possible, but only a

preliminary qualitative assessment. 

The main affinities of the Maltese Islands are very 

obviously with Sicily, and indeed the Maltese fauna has

been described as a mere appendage of that of Sicily

(e.g. Soós, 1933). Most Maltese species occur also in

Sicily. Some have a distribution limited to Sicily and

southern Italy, and other circum-Sicilian islands, apart

from the Maltese Islands; others are Siculo-Maltese

endemics (for example: the salticid Aelurillus schembrii,

the blattid Ectobius kraussianus, the diplopod Glomeris

distichella and the frog Discoglossus pictus pictus). In the

majority of cases where the affinities of strictly Maltese

endemic taxa have been worked out, these are clearly

derived from Sicilian (or European) ancestors (for example:

the gastropods Cernuella caruanae, Marmorana melitensis,

Lampedusa spp. and Trochoidea spp., the pseudoscorpion

Roncus melitensis, the trapdoor spider Nemesia arboricola,

the crab Potamon fluviatile lanfrancoi, the collembolans

Odontellina sexoculata and Mesaphorura schembrii, the

cricket Myrmecophilus baronii, the staphylinids

Trogophloeus championi, Astenus gattoi and Astenus

walkeri, the tenebrionid Stenosis schembrii, the curculionids

Chiloneus deluccai and Desbrochersella championi, the

acrocerid Ogcodes schembrii and the lizard Podarcis 

filfolensis). The majority of the non-endemic Siculo-

Maltese species have a wider Mediterranean, European

or even broader (Palaearctic, or Palaearctic and

Ethiopian) distribution.

As might be expected from the Maltese Islands’ position

at the centre of the Mediterranean, at the border of the

West and East Basins, species whose centres of distribution

are these two basins also occur. However, species of

Eastern Mediterranean affinity predominate, and indeed,

as first observed by Francini Corti & Lanza (1972), the

Maltese Islands have the largest number of such species

of any of the circum-Sicilian islands. Such species include

the heteropteran bugs Kalama lugubris and

Thaumastopus marginicollis pallescens, the bupestrids

Anthaxia lucens lucens and Anthaxia thalassophila 

thalassophila, the tenebrionids Dichillus pertusus,

Trachyderma lima and Cnemeplatia atropos, the

diplopods Stosatea minima and Polydesmus mediterraneus,

the snakes Elaphe situla leopardina and Telescopus fallax

fallax, and the bird Puffinus yelkouan. Particularly 

interesting in this respect as those Maltese endemics with

eastern Mediterranean affinities, as for example, the

palpigrad Eukoenenia christiani, the moth Antitinea

deluccae and the keroplatid fly Macrocera buskettina.

Only two Maltese endemics, the pseudoscorpion

Chthonius girgentiensis and the tenebrionid Alphasida

grossa melitana, have to date been shown to have 

western Mediterranean affinities. 

A number of species have a disjunct Mediterranean 

distribution, occurring in the Maltese Islands and one or

more widely separated Mediterranean localities (for

example: the bugs Halonabis sareptanus, Anoplocerus

luteus and Emblethis denticollis; the curcurlionid

Otiorhynchus moriger; the syrphid Eumerus terminalis;

and the ant Messor caducus).
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A significant number of species are of North African

affinity, either occurring in North Africa, the Maltese and

other circum-Sicilian islands and in Sicily (and perhaps

also southern Italy), or having a more restricted distribu-

tion, the extreme of which is represented by those North

African taxa whose only European station is the Maltese

Islands (for example: the pseudoscorpion Minniza algerica,

the cricket Acheta palmetorum, the carabid Cymindis

suturalis, the curculionid Sitona ocellatus, the chyromyid

flies Aphaniosoma nigrum and  Gymnochiromyia fallax,

the ants Cardiocondyla nigra, Acantholepis frauenfeldi

velox and Diplorhoptrum santschii, the mutillid Mutilla

barbara, the chrysidid Hedichrydium dismorphum and

the snake Coluber algirus).

Although less numerous than the endemics with

European affinities, a significant number of Maltese

endemics with North African affinities exist. These

include the carabid Laemostenus picicornis melitensis,

the zopherid Langelandia niticosta, the curculionid

Alaocyba melitensis, and the as yet unnamed species of

Achenium (Staphylinidae) and Smicromryme (Mutillidae).

A number of species are cosmopolitan or have obviously

been introduced by humans, or both, and these are of no

biogeographical significance. However, introduced aliens

are of conservation concern for their potential effect on

indigenous species, either directly or through changes

they bring about in local habitats and ecosystems. It is

beyond the scope of this work to discuss such aspects,

and the reader is referred to the reports of a conference

on the effects of the introduction of alien species on local

flora and fauna (Baldacchino & Pizzuto, 1996) particularly

the paper by Schembri [P] & Lanfranco [E] (1996). One

aspect needs highlighting nonetheless, that of ‘genetic

erosion’. Introduced alien species may breed with closely

related species to give hybrids that gradually accumulate

differences from their native parental stock, resulting in

loss of unique genetic characteristics. In this regard,

Sheppard et al. (1997) have already expressed concern

that the genetic identity of the endemic Maltese

Honeybee Apis mellifera ruttneri is being threatened

through breeding with introduced alien subspecies of

honeybees. Where local populations present different

ecotypes in different localities (such as is the case with

the cave woodlouse Armadillidium aelleni and, possibly,

the Killifish Aphanius fasciatus), introducing individuals

from one population to another is a threat to the genetic

identity of the different populations, for the reasons

already discussed.

The affinities of the Maltese fauna (and flora) are clearly

with those of Sicily (Francini Corti & Lanza, 1973; Hunt &

Schembri, 1999). While many workers have pointed this

out, the first comprehensive hypothesis on the origin of

the Maltese biota was put forward by Thake (1985) to

explain the occurrence and distribution of the clausiliid

land snails endemic to the Maltese Islands, the Pelagian

Islands, and the Hyblean region of Sicily (see above under

‘Mollusca’). Thake (1985) interpreted the extant species

of Lampedusa as the descendants of an ancient clausiliid

stock that colonised the areas now occupied by the

Pelagian and Maltese island groups, from Sicily in

Messinian20 times, when the whole Pelagian Block21 was

emerged during the Messinian Salinity Event22. From

these colonisers, the present species of Lampedusa differentiated

in isolation following submergence of the land connections

between the two island groups and Sicily. Thake postulated

that the ancestral clausiliid stock remaining in Sicily gave

rise to the genus Muticaria, and that these Muticaria

from Sicily invaded the Maltese Islands during periods of

low sea-level when the two areas became joined by land-

bridges during the Pleistocene23 glaciations (ice ages). On

the basis of conchological and distributional data, Thake

hypothesised that two separate invasions by Muticaria

may have occurred. Each invading population then 

developed in isolation following severance of the land

connection with Sicily, giving rise to the extant Muticaria

of the Maltese Islands.

Thake’s (1985) biogeographical model has been recently

re-examined by Giusti et al. (1995). These authors

reviewed the taxonomy and phylogeny of the clausiliid

taxa considered by Thake, using classical conchological

and anatomical analyses as well as modern molecular

genetic techniques. They concluded that three biological

species of Lampedusa occur. L. lopadusae, endemic to

the islands of Lampedusa and Lampione, and L.imitatrix,
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endemic to the islands of Malta and Filfla, are derived

from a common mainland ancestor that colonised the

areas in question in pre-Quaternary24 times. The third

species, L.melitensis, endemic to the island of Malta, has

differentiated more recently from L.imitatrix. Giusti et al.

(1995) confirmed that Muticaria is a good genus, but do

not agree with Thake’s (1985) interpretation of the species

placed in it. According to Giusti et al. (1995) only two

biological species occur: M. macrostoma endemic to the

Maltese Islands (except Filfla), and M. syracusana endemic

to southeastern Sicily. Both species have numerous

conchological forms that were assigned specific or infra-

specific status in the past, but which molecular genetic

analysis has shown to be little more than local demes. On

the basis of this analysis, Thake’s model for speciation in

Muticaria is incorrect and M. syracusana and M. macrostoma

are likely to have arisen by allopatric speciation25 from a

common macrostoma-like ancestor that lived in Sicily and

reached the Maltese Islands in a single colonisation event

(Giusti et al., 1995). It is not clear when this event took

place. On the basis of the weak morphological and

genetic differentiation between M. syracusana and M.

macrostoma, it is likely that it did not occur before the

start of the Quaternary (Giusti et al., 1995).

In summary, as suggested by Thake (albeit based on

incorrect data), the emerged parts of the Pelagian Block,

including what are now the Maltese and Pelagian island

groups and Hyblean Sicily, were originally colonised by

species from the surrounding emerged lands, mainly the

European mainland, during sea-level lows associated

with the Messinian Salinity Event. At the end of the

Miocene, after much of the Pelagian Block became 

inundated, some of these colonisers differentiated in 

isolation on the still emerged landmasses, one of which

was the Maltese complex. During the Quaternary, the

Maltese Islands experienced further colonisation

episodes, mainly from Sicily, followed by development in

isolation of the populations that managed to gain a

foothold. What is uncertain is whether these Quaternary

colonisations occurred across land-bridges which formed

during the marine regressions associated with the

Pleistocene glaciations (as suggested by Thake and by

others - see for example, Francini Corti & Lanza, 1973),

or due to jump dispersal across the channel separating

the Maltese group from Sicily. The latter mechanism may

have been facilitated by a narrowing of the marine 

barrier due to the Pleistocene marine regressions.

This scenario explains why some endemic species, such

as Lampedusa imitatrix and the Maltese Wall Lizard

Podarcis filfolensis, are genetically well-differentiated

good species. These represent forms derived from the

pre-Quaternary Mediterranean biota that occupied the

exposed landmass during the Messinian Salinity Event

and then became isolated on the different islands that

formed following the final inundation of the

Mediterranean at the beginning of the Pliocene26. Such

endemics may be termed ‘plaeoendemics’ (‘ancient

endemics’). This scenario also explains the large number

of endemic forms that are less strongly to very weakly

differentiated from their Sicilian counterparts, sometimes

so weakly that it is debatable if they are sufficiently different

to warrant their distinction as geographical races (sub-

species). These represent those species that reached the

islands at different times during the Quaternary mostly

by dispersing over from Sicily or nearby lands, and then

differentiated in relative isolation; normally, the longer

the isolation, the greater the differentiation from their

Sicilian or mainland ancestors. Such species may be

termed ‘neoendemic’ (‘new endemics’). A more detailed

account of this model of the origin of the Maltese biota

will be found in Hunt & Schembri [P] (1999) who extend

the discussion to include the extinct biotas of the islands

and give estimates of when the major connections with

Sicily are postulated to have occurred.

However, there are still some features of the biogeography

of the Maltese Islands that this model does not adequately

explain; for example, the strong eastern Mediterranean

affinity. Additionally, while active dispersal across land

bridges connecting the Maltese Islands and the various

surrounding lands, or across relatively narrow sea 

channels, is easy to accept for mobile, eurytopic27 forms

such as many vertebrates and flying insects, it is more 

difficult to understand how stenotopic28 forms with 

limited mobility, such as many terrestrial molluscs,

cryptofaunal,29 hypogeal30 and cavernicolous invertebrates,
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could have reached the Islands via these connections,

especially given the relatively short times that these links

are thought to have existed for. The question of a physical

connection with North Africa is still open. While such a

connection is possible during the Messinian marine

regression, it is not probably at any other time since, as

the maximum marine regression during the Quaternary is

estimated to have been some 120-130m only (see Hunt

& Schembri [P], 1999). Species with North African affinity

either reached the islands during the Messinian and have

remained isolated on the Maltese Islands since, or else

reached the islands at other times by passive dispersal, or

both. The present paucity of forms with North African

affinity that are found on the islands fits both scenarios:

the low number of such forms may be a result of the

ancient African stock being replaced by more recent and

better adapted colonisers, or else may reflect the difficulty

of passive dispersal across the relatively wide seaway that

separates the islands from North Africa (or both).

Our current understanding of the zoogeography of the

Maltese Islands may be broadly summarized as follows.

The predominant Sicilian character of the present day

Maltese fauna results from the combined effect of a

heavier influx of European forms via Sicily, the closest

mainland during the Messinian marine regression, than

from elsewhere, together with an influx of exclusively

Sicilian/European forms during the Pleistocene connections

(or near connections) with Sicily, and perhaps almost

complete displacement of any remnant faunas from the

older land connections with other regions (e.g. Africa).

The few palaeoendemics (i.e. those whose ancestors

originally reached the islands in Messinian times) of

African affinity may be interpreted as relicts from a possible

African-Maltese connection during the Messinian.

Similarly, palaeoendemics of European affinity may be

interpreted as relicts of the Siculo-Maltese Messinian

connection. Neoendemics (i.e. those whose ancestors

reached the islands after the Pliocene) are (as far as is

known) exclusively of Sicilian/European affinity and are

interpreted as recently differentiated forms of species

reaching the Maltese Islands during the Pleistocene

glaciations. Passive dispersal from both Sicily and North

Africa may have occurred throughout, complicating the

picture. No detailed studies have been carried out on the

endemics with eastern Mediterranean affinities and it is

not known whether these are palaeo- or neo-endemic. In

one case at least, that of the carvernicolous and probably

troglobic microwhipscorpion Eukoenenia christiani,

palaeoendemic status seems likely, given its specialized

habitat and very reduced dispersive capabilities. Any land

connections that the Maltese Islands might have had

with the eastern Mediterranean lands both during the

Late Miocene and Pliocene, and during the Pleistocene,

are still obscure. Species with disjunct distributions may

represent relicts of populations having a much wider 

distribution in the past, or else are the result of stochastic

passive dispersal events. The role played by humans in

the deliberate or accidental transport of species is another

mostly unknown and confounding factor. Clearly, much

more research needs to be done before the origins and

relationships of the Maltese fauna are more completely

understood.

CONCLUDING REMARK

The need for an accurate knowledge of the species that

occur in a given region as the basis for the implementa-

tion of management initiatives, including conservation

and exploitation, is practically self-evident, has often

been emphasized and is now entrenched in a number of

international legal instruments and regulations, not least

amongst which are the 1992 Convention on Biological

Diversity and the wildlife-related Directives of the

European Union. Identifying species, mapping their dis-

tribution, analysing their evolutionary relationships and

cataloguing and analysing the results might seem a bor-

ing and not very useful pursuit to some, however, with-

out such sound scientific information, effective initiatives

to manage, conserve and exploit sustainably the living

natural resources of the nation are futile and may actual-

ly be counterproductive. In this regard it is my hope that

the information presented here will become outdated in

a shorter time than that in my previous effort.
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Report of the Board Members

71

The board members present their report and the audited

financial statements of the Authority for the year ended

30th September 2003

Principal Activities

The Authority was set up on the 28th October 1992 for

the promotion of proper land development, both public

and private, and the control of such development in

accordance with approved policies and plans. With effect

from 1 March 2002, the authority has been designated

as the ‘Competent Authority‘ in terms of the

Environment Protection Act, and on 3 May 2002 the

Authority changed its name from Planning Authority to

Malta Environment and Planning Authority.  To achieve

its aims, the Authority is responsible for the preparation

and maintenance of the Development plans, namely the

Structure Plan for the Maltese Islands and the 

supplementary planning documents. It is also responsible

for the conduct of consultation with government departments,

private organizations and other persons relating to planning.

Under the Environment Protection Act the Authority

regulates Nature Protection and Pollution Control and is

responsible for Environmental Impact Assesments for

developmment projects.

Results

The financial results for the year are set out in the Income

and Expenditure Account on page 74.

Board Members

The Board Members of the Authority are:

Independent Members

Mr. Andrew Calleja I.A.P (Chairman)

Mr. Victor Torpiano B.A.(Arch), B.Arch.(Hons.), A&CE (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Ronald Azzopardi

Mr. Louis F. Cassar C.Biol MI Biol, pg Dip Env. Mgt, MSc (Enc Plan & Mgt)

Mr. Alfred Mangion B. Pharm.

Mr. Salvator Mousu’ 

Dr. Sandra Sladden LL.D

Mr. Peter Zammit BE & A (Hons).A&CE

Public Officers

Mr. Moses Azzopardi A.C.IS Dip (M) (resigned 1 February 2003)

Mr. Leonard Callus (Appointed 14 March 2003)

Dr. Godwin Debono B.Sc, M.Sc, D.LL.C., Ph.D.

Mr. Saviour Gauci

Dr. Lucianne Licari M.D., M.Sc., (Env. Plan & Mgt), 

Pg Dip (Env. Mgt) (resigned 11 August 2003)

Mr. Anthony Mifsud HND (Agric.)

Members of the House of Representatives

Hon. Helen D’Amato M.P. (Appointed 18 June 2003)

Hon. Joe Brincat M.P. LL.D. BA(Lond), B.Sc Econ (Advocate)

(appointed 18 June 2003)

Hon. Carmelo Mifsud Bonnici LL.D. M.P. (appointment expired

11 March 2003)

Hon. Joe Mizzi M.P. (appointment expired 11 March 2003)
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In accordance with the Development Planning Act, 1992, the eight independent members shall hold office for a 

period of three years. The other members shall hold office until they are replaced by the Authority appointing them,

and as long as they remain public officers or members of the House, as the case may require. 

Statement of board members’ responsibilities

The Development Planning Act, 1992, requires the Board Members to prepare financial statements for each financial

year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Authority as at the end of the financial year and of

its income and expenditure  for that year. In preparing those financial statements, the Board Members are required to:

• adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Authority 

will continue in business;

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on the accruals basis;

• value separately the components of asset and liability items; and

• report comparative figures corresponding to those of the preceeding accounting pertiod.

The Board Members are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time, the financial position of the Authority and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements

comply with the Development Planning Act, 1992. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the

Authority and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditors

The auditors, Grant Thornton have been in office for the previous five years and in line with government directives a

call for the registration of interest of other audit firms has been issued. 

By order of the Board

F. Tabone

Secretary

Floriana

23 October 2003
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Report of the auditors to the members

We have audited the accompanying financial statements on pages 74 to 86. These financial statements are the 

responsibility of the Authority’s Board Members. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made

by the Board Members, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Authority as at 30

September 2003 and of its deficit, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with The

Development Planning Act, 1992.

Mark A. Bugeja

f/ Grant Thornton

Certified Public Accountants and Auditors

Ta’ Xbiex

Malta

23 October 2003
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Income & expenditure account

2003 2002

Note Lm Lm

Development permit fees 1,635,368 1,778,039

Infrastructure services contribution administration charge 156,504 146,119

Sale of maps and land survey fees 162,676 104,055

Fines and forfeited bonds 143,302 175,443

Other income 3 228,108 242,194

________ ________

2,325,958 2,445,850

Refunds on refused and withdrawn applications (116,869) (52,919)

Increase in provision for unearned income (146,940) (35,277)

________ ________

Earned income 2,062,149 2,357,654

Recurrent expenditure (page 75) (4,815,065) (4,032,346)

________ ________

Deficit on operations (2,752,916) (1,674,692)

Income receivable from Consolidated Fund 4 1,917,573 1,970,765

Movement on committed expenditure on projects 

in progress at year end 5 (3,128) 4,383

Bank interest receivable 10 28,079 42,245

________ ________

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (810,392) 342,701

________ ________
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Recurrent expenditure

2003 2002

Note Lm Lm

Advertising 41,610 44,380

Auditors’ remuneration 2,750 2,600

Bank charges 11,614 12,489

Bad debts 55,662 -

(Decrease)/increase in provision for doubtful debts (38,548) 17,713

Cleaning of premises 18,408 17,944

Security services 46,962 46,489

Depreciation 7 208,410 188,043

Transfer from capital reserve re: depreciation (17,339) (17,339)

Historic building grant scheme 20,000 15,000

Hospitality 19,707 8,085

Public relations and exhibitions 43,886 16,112

Insurance 14,020 11,847

Legal fees 74,412 44,871

Professional fees 202,233 59,944

Materials, supplies and sundries 69,999 42,213

Demolition expenses 48,048 79,634

Remuneration of Planning Authority 

Board Members 36,809 43,766

Remuneration of sub-committees 

and other boards 82,934 67,915

Rent 36,221 19,536

Repairs and upkeep 69,848 59,255

Stationery and printing 41,026 38,825

Subscriptions, books and postages 32,914 35,137

Planning and resource studies 45,309 42,848

Telecommunications 107,758 70,160

Training 40,094 13,191

Overseas conferences 41,826 21,217

Transport 127,585 112,016

Wages and salaries 3,337,669 2,933,848

Water and electricity 36,261 27,387

Expenses reimbursed by third party (43,023) (42,780)

________ ________

Total recurrent expenditure - to page 74 4,815,065 4,032,346

________ ________
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Balance sheet at 30 September

2003 2002

Note Lm Lm

Non-current assets

Tangible fixed assets 7 840,483 852,574

_________ _________

Current assets

Stocks 8 6,312 6,648

Debtors 9 1,102,861 1,742,101

Cash at bank and in hand 10 3,674,899 2,915,055

_________ _________

4,784,072 4,663,804

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 11 5,823,018 4,887,110

_________ _________

Net current liabilities (1,038,946) (223,306)

_________ _________

Net (liabilities)/assets (198,463) 629,268

_________ _________

Endowment capital 12 500,000 500,000

Capital reserve 165,249 182,588

Accumulated deficits (863,712) (53,320)

_________ _________

Deficiency (198,463) 629,268

_________ _________

The financial statements on pages 74 to 86 were approved by the board members on 23 October 2003 and were

signed on their behalf by:

A. Calleja V. Torpiano G. Cassar M. Gatt

Chairman Deputy Chairman Director of Planning Director 
Corporate Services
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Statement of changes in equity

Endowment Capital Accumulated

Capital Reserve Deficits Total

Lm Lm Lm Lm

Balance at 30 September 2001 500,000 199,927 (396,021) 303,906

Surplus for the year - - 342,701 342,701

Transfer to income and expenditure account 

amount equivalent to depreciation on fixed 

assets funded by Government subventions - (17,339) - (17,339)

_______ _______ _______ _______

Balance at 30 September 2002 500,000 182,588 (53,320) 629,268

Deficit for the year - - (810,392) (810,392)

Transfer to income and expenditure account 

amount equivalent to depreciation on fixed 

assets funded by Government subventions - (17,339) - (17,339)

_______ _______ _______ _______

Balance at 30 September 2003 500,000 165,249 (863,712) (198,463)

_______ _______ _______ _______
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Cash flow statement

2003 2002

Note Lm Lm

Operating activities

Cash from/(used in) operations 13(a) 616,628 (8,161)

________ ________

Increase in funds received in respect of 

Commuted Parking Payment Scheme 302,873 462,152

________ ________

Investing activities

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets 13(b) (198,310) (159,596)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 3,478 1,950

Interest received 35,175 42,929

________ ________

Net cash used in investing activities (159,657) (114,717)

________ ________

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 759,844 339,274

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13(c) 2,915,055 2,575,781

________ ________

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13(c) 3,674,899 2,915,055

________ ________
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Notes to the financial statements

Presentation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS).  

These financial statements are presented in Maltese Liri (Lm).

Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies are set

out below.

Revenue recognition

Subventions from government are accounted as follows:

a) Subventions available to cover recurrent expenditure are reflected in the income and expenditure account 

of the Authority.

b) Subventions available to fund fixed assets expenditure are transferred to a capital reserve. An amount 

equivalent to the depreciation on the fixed assets concerned is subsequently debited to the reserve.

Interest income from investments is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the

interest rate applicable.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line

method, on the following bases:

%

Improvements to leased premises 5

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 15

Computer and other equipment 15 - 20

Motor vehicles 20

Electrical and other equipment 10 - 15

1

2
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment 

At each balance sheet date the Authority reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of

the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset

is reduced to its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate

of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment

loss is recognised as income immediately.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

Unearned income

A substantial portion of the income of the Authority is derived from Development Permit Fees which are received with

applications for development permits in advance of the completion of the work connected therewith.

A provision is made at the end of each financial year to recognise the unearned income representing:

a)   Income received for development applications which have not yet been determined;

b) Income received for inspection and enforcement work which has not yet been performed; and

c)   Refunds which may be due on applications not yet determined.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Authority’s balance sheet when the Authority has become

a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Trade and other debtors

Trade and other debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 

irrecoverable amounts.

Trade and other creditors

Trade and other creditors are stated at their nominal value.

2
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Other income

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Income from reconsideration of applications 35,552 34,675

Planning control 8,117 8,403

Enforced demolition 47,004 88,678

Administration charge re: Commuted Parking Payment Scheme 61,740 50,252

Miscellaneous income - DCU 39,118 37,490

Miscellaneous income - other 35,090 20,746

Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets 1,487 1,950

________ ________

228,108 242,194

________ ________

Income receivable from Consolidated Fund

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Subvention receivable from Consolidated Fund 1,787,500 1,750,000

Reduction in subvention in respect of year 2000/2001 - (55,000)

________ ________

1,787,500 1,695,000

Additional subvention in respect of year 1999/2000 - 95,000

________ ________

1,787,500 1,790,000

Recharge of expenses incurred in respect 

of Environment Protection Directorate 130,073 180,765

________ ________

1,917,573 1,970,765

________ ________

3

4

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Movement on committed expenditure 

The income of Lm 95,885 deferred to the financial year 2002/2003 represents expenditure to which the Authority

was committed in relation to projects initiated in the year ended 30 September 2002, with appropriate Ministerial

approval and Ministry of Finance clearance. At 30 September 2003, the Authority had a total of Lm 99,013 which

were committed in relation to projects initiated during the year under review.

Taxation

In accordance with Section 11 of the Development Planning Act, 1992, the Authority is exempt from any liability for

the payment of income tax.

5

6
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Tangible fixed assets

Improvements  Furniture,  Computer Electrical

to leased fixtures and other Motor and other  

premises & fittings equipment vehicles equipment Total

Lm Lm Lm Lm Lm Lm

Cost/valuation

At 1 October 2002 930,455 296,705 1,345,320 29,368 316,393 2,918,241

Additions 7,788 33,033 156,138 - 1,351 198,310

Disposals - - (46,998) - - (46,998)

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________

At 30 September 2003 938,243 329,738 1,454,460 29,368 317,744 3,069,553

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________

Depreciation

At 1 October 2002 418,318 253,383 1,054,800 25,051 314,115 2,065,667

Charge for the year 46,892 14,573 141,135 4,317 1,493 208,410

Released on disposal - - (45,007) - - (45,007)

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________

At 30 September 2003 465,210 267,956 1,150,928 29,368 315,608 2,229,070

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________

Net book value

At 30 September 2003 473,033 61,782 303,532 - 2,136 840,483

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________

At 30 September 2002 512,137 43,322 290,520 4,317 2,278 852,574

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________

The Authority has incurred, since inception, capital expenditure totalling Lm 938,243 in improving the new premises

at Floriana.  A formal lease agreement was signed during 1998 although a definite lease period was not established.

The capital expenditure incurred is being depreciated at 5% per annum on the assumption that the Authority will 

continue to occupy the premises for at least 20 years.

7
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Stocks

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Consumables 6,312 6,648

______ ______

Debtors

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Account with the Government of Malta 612 612

Other debtors and prepayments 652,249 668,989

Government subvention 450,000 1,072,500

________ ________

1,102,861 1,742,101

________ ________

Cash at bank and in hand

Bank balances include an amount of Lm 628,840 (2002 - Lm 408,904) and Lm 2,221,123 (2002 - Lm 1,918,250) representing

Special funds received and sums received under a Commuted Parking Payment Scheme respectively (refer to note 11).

Interest earned on bank balances held in respect of the Commuted Parking Payment Scheme is not taken to the

income and expenditure account but is retained in the Scheme itself.

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Amounts due to Works Division 527,027 565,828

Commuted Parking Payment Scheme (refer to note 10) 2,221,123 1,918,250

Special funds (refer to note 10) 742,936 558,904

Other creditors 345,970 156,472

Unearned income 1,534,462 1,381,623

Deferred income (note) 99,013 95,885

Accruals 352,487 210,148

________ ________

5,823,018 4,887,110

________ ________

Note:

Special funds represent funds arising from certain operations conducted by the Authority which income is allocated

for specific purposes.

8
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Endowment capital

In accordance with Section 7(1) of the Development Planning Act, 1992 the endowment capital of the Authority is

Lm 500,000.

Notes to the cash flow statement

Cash used in operations

2003 2002

Lm Lm

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (810,392) 342,701

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 208,410 188,043

Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets (1,487) (1,950)

Transfer from Capital Reserve (17,339) (17,339)

Interest receivable (28,079) (42,245)

________ ________

Operating (deficit)/surplus before working 

capital changes (648,887) 469,210

Decrease in stocks 336 336

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 632,144 (1,107,371)

Increase in creditors 477,068 598,770

Increase in unearned income 152,839 35,277

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income 3,128 (4,383)

________ ________

616,628 (8,161)

________ ________

During the year the company acquired tangible fixed assets with an aggregate cost of Lm 198,310 which were paid in cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and balances with banks. Cash and cash equivalents included in

the cash flow statement comprise the following balance sheet amounts:

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Cash at bank and in hand 3,674,899 2,915,055

________ ________

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year include deposits with banks of Lm 628,840 (2002 - Lm408,904)

and Lm 2,221,123 (2002 - Lm1,918,250) held by the Authority in respect of special funds and sums received under

a Commuted Parking Payment Scheme respectively which use is restricted for specific purposes.

12
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Commitments

2003 2002

Lm Lm

Capital expenditure that has been authorised but has not yet been contracted for

212,800 1,047,500

_______ _______

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for motor vehicles:

- expiring within one year 68,163 68,163

- expiring between two and five years 50,991 119,154

_______ _______

119,154 187,317

_______ _______

Contingent liabilities

The Authority is currently defending in Court a number of claims filed against it in connection with the issue, or non-

issue, of development permits by itself or its predecessor, the Planning Area Permits Board. No provision has been made

in these accounts in respect of these claims.

The Authority has issued two bank guarantees, one for Lm 40,000 and another for Lm 40,600. In the first instance

the guarantee was set up against a case involving one of its employees who is defending a civil action for damages in

connection with the performance of his duties.  The Authority is of the opinion that the claim is unfunded and no 

provision has been made in these accounts in this respect.  In the latter case the guarantee was set up to comply with

an agreement reached with the European Commission against its contribution to the nature Trust Project.

Financial instruments

Financial assets include debtors and cash held at bank and in hand. Financial liabilities include creditors and other 

borrowings. At 30 September 2003 and 2002, the Authority had no unrecognised financial instruments.

Risk management policies

Credit risk on amounts receivable is limited through the systematic monitoring of outstanding balances and the 

presentation of debtors net of allowances for doubtful debts, where applicable. Cash is placed with reputable banks.

Fair values

At 30 September 2003 and 2002, the fair values of financial assets and liabilities were not materially different from

their carrying amounts.

14
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Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Revenue and Expenditure Estimates

[for the year ended 30 September 2004]

In terms of Section 7 of the Development Planning Act, 1992
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Revenue and Expenditure Estimates

For the year ended 30 September 2004

ESTIMATES ACTUAL ESTIMATES

Year ending Year ended Year ended

30.09.04 30.09.03 30.09.03

Lm Lm Lm

PROJECTED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Income

Unearned income brought forward 1,534,462 1,381,623 1,381,623

Development permit fees (net of refunds) 1,270,538 1,502,706 1,373,377

Administration of infrastructure and services contributions 160,000 156,504 160,000

Income from sanctioning of illegal development and

issuance of compliance certificates, DNOs, etc. 60,000 60,810 88,000

Other income 462,000 523,047 508,700

Unearned income carried forward (1,500,000) (1,534,462) (1,300,000)

1,987,000 2,090,228 2,211,700

Expenditure

Salaries and remuneration 3,614,250 3,431,320 3,712,870

Training 46,250 40,094 85,175

Overseas conferences 40,000 41,826 40,000

Staff welfare 26,000 26,092 40,000

Depreciation 177,661 191,071 285,758

Planning and resource studies 94,000 45,309 165,250

Historic building grant scheme 20,000 20,000 20,000

Administration and operational expenses 1,077,023 1,019,353 1,490,022

5,095,184 4,815,065 5,839,075

Operating deficit (3,108,184) (2,724,837) (3,627,375)

Subvention from Government 2,271,837 1,917,573 2,771,500

Amount committed to projects in progress - (3,128) -

Deficit for the year (836,347) (810,392) (855,875)
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Revenue and Expenditure Estimates

For the year ended 30 September 2004

ESTIMATES ACTUAL ESTIMATES

Year ending Year ended Year ended

30.09.04 30.09.03 30.09.03

Lm Lm Lm

PROJECTED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Deficit for the year (836,347) (810,392) (855,875)

Add back: Depreciation 195,000 191,071 285,758

Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets - (1,487) -

Amount committed to projects in progress - 3,128 -

(Decrease) / increase in unearned income (34,462) 152,839 (81,623)

Increase in creditors 9,699 779,941 97,898

Decrease in stocks - 336 -

Decrease / (increase) in debtors 24,763 639,240 (16,275)

Cash (used in) / generated from operations (641,347) 954,676 (570,117)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital Expenditure

Office accommodation - Malta 200,000 56,604 216,500

Office accommodation - Gozo - 407 4,000

Mapping equipment 10,000 4,109 75,000

Land survey equipment 2,800 2,288 6,000

Information technology - 130,202 303,000

Environmental equipment - 4,700 419,000

Motor vehicles - - 24,000

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets - (3,478) -

Net cash outflow from investing activities 212,800 194,832 1,047,500

Net cash (outflow) / inflow (854,147) 759,844 (1,617,617)
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Overlap of income

Income received from Development Permit Fees in advance of the processing work connected therewith, is 

considered to be unearned income. This means that, at any point in time, the Authority is in possesion of funds for

development permit applications, which have yet to be processed. Therefore, should the application be eventually

refused, one half of the development permit fee will become refundable.

Subvention from Government

The Government has not yet published estimates for the 2004 fiscal year. For the purpose of these estimates, it has

been assumed that the Government will vote a subvention of Lm2,850,000 under the Government’s budget for

2004. Accordingly the amount voted to the Authority for the fiscal year 2004 has been estimated at:

Lm

Recurrent vote 2,650,000

Capital vote 200,000

The subvention figures appearing in the estimates are made up as follows:

Amounts receivable in October to December 2003

from Government Budget for 2003 134,337

Amounts receivable in January to September 2004

from Government Budget for 2004

(75% of Lm2,850,000) 2,137,500

2,271,837

Notes to the estimates
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